
AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
Wednesday, 23 November 2016 at 7.30 pm 

Council Chamber - Civic Centre 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 

the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 2 - 6) 
 
 To agree the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2016. 

 
4. Matters Arising   
 
5. Written Questions and Petitions   
 
6. Non Contentious Business   
 
7. Committee Work Plan  (Page 7) 
 
8. Annual Audit Letter 2015/16  (Pages 8 - 31) 
 
9. Auditors Appointment  (Pages 32 - 62) 
 
10. Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee and its Terms of 

Reference  (Pages 63 - 79) 
 
11. Internal Audit Activity Report  (Pages 80 - 97) 
 
12. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy  (Pages 98 - 124) 
 
13. Risk Management Report  (Pages 125 - 131) 
 
14. References from other Committees   
 
 Any references arising from meetings held after the publication of this 

agenda will be circulated separately. 
 

15. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 

considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to 
be specified in the minutes. 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

MINUTES OF THE AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
7 September 2016 7.30  - 8.46 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Karen Clempner (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Beckett (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jean Clark 
Councillor Mark Ingall 
Councillor Stefan Mullard 
Councillor Edna Stevens 
 

 
Officers 
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 
John Dyson, Principal Finance Manager 
Sarah Marsh, Internal Audit Manager 
Lorraine Bull, Senior Internal Auditor 
Debbie Hanson, Director, Ernst & Young  
Lisa Purse, Corporate and Governance Support Officer 
 

 
APOLOGIES  
Councillor Simon Carter 
Councillor Eddie Johnson 
Councillor Russell Perrin 
 
 
 
14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 
 

15. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2016 
are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
16. MATTERS ARISING  

 
Reference Minute Item 9 b, Internal Audit Activity Report – Sarah Marsh, 
Internal Audit Manager provided an update at Agenda Item 11 of this 
meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

2

Agenda Item 3



Reference Minute Item 10 – Risk Management Progress Report 2016/17 – 
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance advised that the local authority trading 
company HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd had not been included in 
the register because the Shareholder Sub Committee receives a regular 
report which would include this risk and that such risk would be unlikely to 
appear on the Risk Management report to the Audit and Standards 
Committee due to the scoring system used.  
 

17. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS  
 
None. 
 

18. NON CONTENTIOUS BUSINESS  
 

RESOLVED that no items are taken as non-contentious business. 
 

19. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN  
 
The Committee received its current work plan for the 2016/17 municipal 
year.  The unallocated items on the work plan were discussed and it was 
agreed that Corporate Risk 3 from the Corporate Risk Register had been 
previously been considered.  
 

RESOLVED that Corporate Risks 4 and 7 would be considered at 
the 23 November 2016 meeting of this Committee. 

 
20. AUDITED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2015/16  

 
The Committee received the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts presented as 
appendix 1 to the report and a verbal update from Ernst &Young (the 
Council’s external auditor) representatives on progress with the audit 
exercise. 
 

RESOLVED that the draft 2015/16 Statement of Accounts is noted 
and referred to the Cabinet on 15 September 2016 for approval. 

 
21. MANAGEMENT LETTER OF REPRESENTATIONS 2015/16  

 
The Committee received the amended draft Letter of Representation 
regarding the audit of the 2015/16 financial statements. 
 

RESOLVED that the draft Management Letter of Representation, 
attached at Appendix 1 of the report, is agreed as amended and 
recommended to Cabinet on 15 September 2016 for formal 
acknowledgement. 

 
22. AUDIT RESULTS REPORT (ISA 260)  

 
The Committee received a report, the amended item supplied at the 
meeting (appended to these minutes) and the external auditor’s findings 

3



on their audit of the Council’s financial statements and arrangements to 
secure value for money in the use of its resources.   
 
The Committee considered whether there were any significant matters to 
be referred to the Cabinet for their consideration alongside the Statement 
of Accounts. 
 
The Committee congratulated the Head of Finance and his team for their 
hard work and efforts in compiling the Statement of Accounts. 
 

RESOLVED that 
 
(a) the report is noted and no matters are considered significant 
to refer to the Cabinet for consideration alongside the 
Statement of Accounts at its meeting on 15 September 2016; 
 
(b) the Value for Money assessment of the Council’s use of 
resources, as contained within the report from the Council’s 
appointed auditor, is noted; 
 
(c) the continued progress made in the preparation of the 
Statement of Accounts which, in preparation for the Government’s 
requirement for earlier production of local authority final accounts 
with effect from 2017/18, has facilitated both an earlier audit to be 
completed and an associated reduction in the requirement to make 
amendments to the draft accounts, is acknowledged. 

 
23. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY REPORT  

 
The Committee received a report on the work undertaken by the Internal 
Audit Team service.  This included the Recommendation Tracker, which 
was used to monitor the implementation of recommendations arising from 
previous internal audits. 
 
The Committee expressed concerns regarding overdue audit reports and 
asked that the Head of Governance provide an explanation to the next 
meeting of this Committee should reports remain outstanding. 
 

RESOLVED that the contents of the report are noted. 
 

24. RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT  
 
The Committee received the Risk Management Report and reviewed the 
Corporate Risk Register.  
 

RESOLVED that the contents of the report and its appendix, 
acknowledging the positive progress the Council has made in 
recent years regarding risk management, is noted. 
 

 

4



25. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
None. 
 
 

26. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

5



6



AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 
2016/17 

 

   

8 March 2017  
o Period 11 IA Activity Report Sarah Marsh 

 
o Internal Audit Strategy and Plan 2017/18 Sarah Marsh 

 
o External Auditor – Audit Plan 2016/17 

(Accounts closure and VFM) 
Ernst & Young 
 
 

o Annual Report on the Certification of Grant 
Claims and Returns (including fees) 

Ernst & Young 
 
 

o Internal Audit Compliance with the Public 
Standards Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS) Annual Report 

Sarah Marsh 
 
 
 

o Audit & Standards Committee Work Plan 
and Training Programme 2017/18 

Simon Freeman 
 
 

o Risk Management Progress Report 
2016/17 

Simon Freeman 
 
 

o Review of Internal Audit Charter  Sarah Marsh 
 

o Annual Report of Audit & Standards 
Committee 

Sarah Marsh 

Standing Items  
o Register of Complaints which have been 

referred to Hearing Sub-Committee  
Monitoring Officer 
 
 

Unallocated Items  
o   

 
 

7

Agenda Item 7



REPORT TO:  AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
  

DATE:   23 NOVEMBER 2016 
 
TITLE:    ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2015/16 

  
LEAD OFFICER:   SIMON FREEMAN – HEAD OF FINANCE  
   (01279) 446228 
 
  
 RECOMMENDED that 
 

The Committee acknowledges the Annual Audit Letter for 2015/16 and the 
key issues identified regarding the audit opinion, financial statements and 
key challenges. 

 
 
 BACKGROUND 
 
1 Under Regulation 27 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 

2011 the Council is required to ensure that the Annual Audit Letter is 
considered by a Committee as soon as reasonably possible.  This 
responsibility falls to the Audit and Standards Committee.  There is also a 
requirement for the Annual Audit Letter to be published and made 
available to the public.  Accordingly, the letter has been published on the 
Council’s website. 

 
2 Ernst & Young has produced its Annual Audit Letter which summarises its 

findings based on the audit work carried out at Harlow District Council 
during 2015/16.  Detailed findings resulting from the audit work have been 
included in the Audit Results Report and presented to the Committee at its 
meeting on 7 September 2016. 

 
3 The key messages for the Committee are that the Appointed Auditor has:  
 

• Issued an unqualified opinion on the Council’s accounts for the 
2015/16 financial year. 

• Concluded that the Council has made proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources by issuing an unqualified value for money conclusion. 

• Certified completion of the audit on 16 September 2016. 
• Not identified any inconsistencies between the Annual Governance 

Statement and other information that they were aware of from their 
work. 

  

8

Agenda Item 8



4 Work on the certification of grant claims and returns with respect to the 
2015/16 financial year is in progress and will be complete during in the 
near future. 

 
5 The letter is attached to this report at Appendix 1 and will be presented by 

the Council’s external auditors, Ernst & Young.   
 
 
 IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Place (includes Sustainability) 

None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 

 Finance (includes ICT)   
The Committee is required under legislation to receive the Annual Audit 
Letter and the Council must make proper arrangements for its publication.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance 

 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The report confirms that the Council made proper arrangements to ensure 
that good systems of governance exist within the Council. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

 
  
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None. 

9



 

Ernst & Young LLP

 

Harlow District Council 

Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 

October 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

10



Contents 

EY  i 

Contents 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Purpose .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Responsibilities ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Financial Statement Audit ..................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Value for Money .................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Other Reporting Issues .......................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Focused on your Future ......................................................................................................................................................................... 19 
 

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued ‘‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies 2015-16’. It is available from the Chief Executive of 
each audited body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk) 

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of 
auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas. 

The ‘Terms of Appointment from 1 April 2015’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit 
Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature. 

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as 
appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party. 

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you 
may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London 
SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our 
service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute. 

 
 

11

http://www.audit-commission.gov.uk/pages/default.aspx


 

 

 

Executive Summary

12



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  2 

Executive Summary 

We are required to issue an Annual Audit Letter to Harlow District Council (the Council) following completion of our audit procedures for the year 
ended 31 March 2016.  

Below are the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process.  

Area of Work Conclusion 

Opinion on the Council and Pension Fund’s: 

► Financial statements 

 

Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Council at 31 March 2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended  

► Consistency of other information published 
with the financial statements 

Other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Statement 
of Accounts 2015/16   

Concluding on the Council’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

We concluded that you have put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in 
your use of resources  

 

 

Area of Work Conclusion 

Reports by exception: 

► Consistency of Annual Governance Statement 

 

The Annual Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council  

► Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest  

► Written recommendations to the Council, 
which should be copied to the Secretary of 
State 

We had no matters to report 

► Other actions taken in relation to our 
responsibilities under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 

We had no matters to report  

 

 

 

13



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  3 

Area of Work Conclusion 

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on 
our review of the Council’s Whole of 
Government Accounts return (WGA).  

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not 
perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack. 

 

 

As a result of the above we have also: 

Area of Work Conclusion 

Issued a report to those charged with 
governance of the Council communicating 
significant findings resulting from our audit. 

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 26 August 2016 

 

Issued a certificate that we have completed the 
audit in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the 
National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit 
Practice. 

Our certificate was issued on 16 September 2016 

 

 

 

 
In January 2017, we will also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work we have 
undertaken.  

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work.  

 
Debbie Hanson 
Executive Director 
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 

14



 

 

 

 

Purpose

15



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  5 

Purpose  

The Purpose of this Letter 

The purpose of this Annual Audit Letter is to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues 
arising from our work, which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council.  

We have already reported the findings from our audit work in our 2015/16 Audit Results Report and Addendum to the 7 September 2016 meeting 
of the Audit and Standards Committee, representing those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this Letter. The 
matters reported here are the most significant for the Council. 

 

 

  

16



 

 

 

 

Responsibilities

17



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  7 

Responsibilities 

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor 

Our 2015/16 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 9 March 2016 and is conducted in accordance 
with the National Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by 
the National Audit Office.  

As auditors we are responsible for: 

► Expressing an opinion: 

► On the 2015/16 financial statements; and 

► On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements. 

► Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

► Reporting by exception: 

► If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council; 

► Any significant matters that are in the public interest;  

► Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and 

► If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit 
Practice.  

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on your Whole of Government 
Accounts return. The extent of our review and the nature of our report are specified by the NAO. 

 

18



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  8 

Responsibilities of the Council  

The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement. In the Annual 
Governance Statement, the Council reports publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has 
monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period.  

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

  

19



 

 

 

 

Financial Statement 
Audit

20



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council  

EY  10 

Financial Statement Audit 

Key Issues 

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its 
financial management and financial health. 

We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on 16 September 2016. 

Our detailed findings were reported to the 7 September 2016 meeting of the Audit and Standards Committee. 

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows: 

Significant Risk Conclusion 

Management override of controls 

A risk present on all audits is that management is in a unique 
position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability to 
manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly, and 
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively.  

Auditing standards require us to respond to this risk by 
testing the appropriateness of journals, testing accounting 
estimates for possible management bias and obtaining an 
understanding of the business rationale for any significant 
unusual transactions.  

 

 

We obtained a full list of journals posted to the general ledger during the year, 
and analysed these journals using criteria we set to identify any unusual journal 
types or amounts. We then tested a sample of journals that met our criteria and 
tested these to supporting documentation. 

We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of 
material management override. 

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied. 

We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared 
unusual or outside the Council’s normal course of business. 

 

 

Revenue and expenditure recognition 

Auditing standards also required us to presume that there is 
a risk that revenue and expenditure may be misstated due to 
improper recognition or manipulation.  

We respond to this risk by reviewing and testing material 
revenue and expenditure streams and revenue cut-off at the 

 

Our testing has not revealed any material misstatements with respect to revenue 
and expenditure recognition. 

Overall our audit work did not identify any issues or unusual transactions which 
indicated that there had been any misreporting of the Council’s financial position.  

21



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council  

EY  11 

year end.  

For local authorities the potential for the incorrect 
classification of revenue spend as capital is a particular area 
where there is a risk of management override. We therefore 
review capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 
to ensure it meets the relevant accounting requirements to 
be capitalised. 

 

Our testing did not identify any expenditure which had been inappropriately 
capitalised. 

Classification and valuation of investment property and 
property, plant and equipment 

The Council undertakes an annual exercise to revalue 
property assets. The valuation of property assets represents 
a significant accounting estimate. The accounting entries 
arising from changes in value are complex and will have a 
significant impact on the Council’s financial statements.  

The Council’s Fixed Asset Register is unable to calculate the 
accounting entries arising from changes in the valuation of 
its property assets. The Council therefore relies on excel-
based spreadsheets to manually calculate the accounting 
entries.  

During 2015/16 the Council reclassified assets previously 
recorded as investment property to other land and buildings. 
These assets had a market value at 31 March 2015 of £19.5 
million. 

We responded to this risk by: 

 assessing the reliability of the work undertaken by 
District Valuer on valuing the Council’s property assets 

 Testing the accounting treatment applied to changes in 
the valuation of property assets and the classification of 
property assets within the balance sheet.  

 Testing the prior period adjustment arising from the 
reclassification of investment property. e 

 

 

We completed our planned audit procedures and found that: 

 We were able to place reliance on the work undertaken by management’s 
valuation experts. 

 The information provided to management’s experts was reliable. 

 Property, plant and equipment assets had been classified in accordance with 
the Accounting Code.  

 The prior period adjustment arising from the reclassification of investment 
property assets was consistent with guidance in the accounting code.  The 
accounts do however need to be updated to include a note explaining the 
prior period adjustment and the areas of the accounts impacted. 

 

We did however find that the in year changes in the valuation of council dwellings 
had been applied incorrectly in the Council’s Fixed Asset Register. As a result, the 
value of council dwellings and revaluation reserve in the financial statements 
were both overstated by £3.6 million.  The revaluation reserve is an accounting 
reserve and does not represent available resources for the Council. This error, 
which was corrected by management, therefore had no impact on the financial 
position of the Council. 

  

22



 

 

 

 

Value for Money

23



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  13 

Value for Money 

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use 
of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion. 

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to: 

 Take informed decisions; 

 Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and 
 Work with partners and other third parties. 

 

 

 

Proper arrangements for 
securing value for money  

Informed 
decision making 

Working with 
partners and 
third parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

24



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  14 

We issued an unqualified value for money conclusion on 16 September 2016. 

We did not identify any significant risk in relation to our value for money conclusion.  We performed the procedures outlined in our Audit Plan and 
concluded that the Council had adequate arrangements in place. 

As part of our work we considered the following areas and made the following observations. 

Key findings 

Medium term financial plan and key assumptions 

The Council’s latest Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), which was updated in January 2016, identifies a cumulative budget gap in the 
financial years 2016/17 to 2018/19 of £3.4 million. The assumptions made in the MTFS are reasonable and prudent. The Council does not rely 
on as yet uncertain funding streams to balance its base budget. For example, funding from the New Homes Bonus is transferred to reserves and is 
therefore not included as part of funding for the base budget. Work is ongoing to address the budget gaps in future years and maintain its 
reserves. As part of this process, the Council needs to formalise the savings plans it is developing. 

Levels of reserves 

The level of useable general fund reserves held by the Council at 31 March 2016 is £29 million. Of these, a number are earmarked for specific 
purposes, leaving around £7 million that could be used to support spending if needed. The general fund working balance forms part of the general 
reserves and, at just under £4 million, is above the minimum level of £2.5 million recommended by the Head of Finance. We have therefore 
concluded that the Council has adequate levels of reserves 

Budget setting and monitoring processes 

The Council set a balanced budget for 2016/17, with no unmet budget gap to be addressed. The assumptions made by the Council in determining 
its budget are appropriate and we are satisfied that the Council’s has established appropriate budgetary control procedures  

Decision making processes and partnership working 

The Council has appropriate governance, performance and risk management processes in place. There is evidence of the Council working 
effectively with partners in key areas, such as Kier Harlow for the repair of council dwellings and Veolia for waste collection. A clear vision for the 
Council is included in the Corporate Plan and the Council has effectively managed significant projects such as the development of the Enterprise 
Zone. 

 
 

25



 

 

 

 

Other Reporting 
Issues

26



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  16 

Other Reporting Issues 

Whole of Government Accounts 

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack. 

Annual Governance Statement 

We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement, identify any inconsistencies with the 
other information of which we are aware from our work, and consider whether it is misleading. 

We completed this work and did not identify any areas of concern.  

Report in the Public Interest  

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes 
to our attention in the course of the audit in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public. 

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest. 

Written Recommendations 

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to 
consider it at a public meeting and to decide what action to take in response.  

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation. 

Objections Received 

We did not receive any objections to the 2015/16 financial statements from member of the public.  

Other Powers and Duties 

We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  

27



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  17 

Independence 

We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Audit and Standards Committee on 7 September 2016. In 
our professional judgement the firm is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised 
within the meaning regulatory and professional requirements.  

Control Themes and Observations 

We have adopted a fully substantive approach and have therefore not tested the operation of controls.  

28



 

 

 

 

Focused on your 
future

29



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Thurrock Council 

EY  19 

Focused on your Future 

Area Issue Impact 

EU referendum Following the majority vote to end the UK’s membership of the 
European Union (EU) in the EU Referendum held on 23 June 2016 
there is a heightened level of volatility in the financial markets and 
increased macroeconomic uncertainty in the UK.  All three major 
rating agencies (S&P, Fitch and Moody’s) took action on the UK 
Sovereign credit rating and, following the rating action on the UK 
Government. For entities in the public sector, there is likely to be an 
impact on investment property valuations if confidence in the wider 
UK property market falls; and the valuation of defined benefit 
pension obligations may also be affected. It is too early to estimate 
the quantum of any impact of these issues, but there is likely to be 
significant ongoing uncertainty for a number of months while the UK 
renegotiates its relationships with the EU and other nations. 

Many of the issues and challenges that face the UK 
public sector will continue to exist, not least because 
continued pressure on public finances will need 
responding to. Additionally it may well be that the 
challenges are increased if the expected economic 
impacts of the referendum and loss of EU grants 
outweigh the benefits of not having to contribute to 
the EU and require even more innovative solutions.  

We are committed to supporting our clients through 
this period, and help identify the opportunities that will 
also arise. We will engage with you on the concerns 
and questions you may have, provide our insight at key 
points along the path, and provide any papers and 
analysis of the impact of the referendum on the 
Government and Public Sector market. 

30



 

 

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory 

Ernst & Young LLP 

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK. 
All Rights Reserved.  

ED None 

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales  
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited. 

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF. 

ey.com 

31



REPORT TO: AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 23 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: AUDITORS APPOINTMENT 
 

LEAD OFFICER(S): 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE 
(01279) 446228 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A the Audit & Standards Committee recommends to Council that Harlow 

Council participates in the national procurement process led by Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) for the appointment of its external 
auditors. 
 

B subject to the agreement of recommendation A, the Audit and Standards 
Committee recommends to Council that delegated authority be granted to the 
Head of Finance, as the Council’s statutory officer under Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, to formally give notice of the Council’s intention 
to opt in to the PSAA procurement exercise.   

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1.  In August 2010, the Department for Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) announced plans to put in place new arrangements for auditing 
England’s local public bodies. 
 

2.  As a result, new legislation was developed and the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 received royal assent on 30 January 2014.  The Act 
enabled the Government to close the Audit Commission on 31 March 2015. 
 

3.  Prior to the winding up of the Audit Commission, it undertook a national 
procurement to appoint external audit firms to undertake its work on public 
body audits for a five year period from 2012/13 to 2016/17. 
 

4.  Responsibility for management of the existing appointments was transferred 
to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) under transitional 
arrangements.  PSAA is an independent company established by the Local 
Government Association (LGA) for this purpose.  The transitional 
arrangements were extended to 2017/18 to ensure that savings being 
delivered by the appointments were locked in for an additional year. 
 

 
 
 

32

Agenda Item 9



ISSUES/PROPOSALS 

5.  The current arrangements for the delivery of the Council’s external 
independent audit work will end once the audits for the 2017/18 financial year 
are complete.  However, under section 7 of the Act arrangements for the 
appointment of the new audit contract for the 2018/19 financial year must be 
in place no later than December 2017.  The current contract, let through the 
Audit Commission procurement exercise is operated by Ernst & Young. 
 

6.  In deciding to extend the transitional arrangements for a further year for larger 
local government bodies, the Secretary of State recognised the need to 
enable the sector to make timely arrangements for procurement under the 
new framework and to provide ongoing stability in the arrangements during 
the transition. 
 

7.  Under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Council has a number 
of choices for the appointment of its auditors going forward –  
 

• Establish an independent Auditor Panel which must be made up of a 
majority, or of wholly independent members and must be chaired by an 
independent member. 

• Establish a joint Auditor Panel to carry out the function on behalf of two 
or more bodies. 

• Opt-in to an approved sector led body (SLB) to be specified by DCLG 
to act as the Appointing Person on behalf of opted-in authorities. 

 
8.  Opting to establish independent appointments panels either solely or jointly is 

likely to be difficult to achieve and will take time.  If the Council were 
successful in achieving viable panel appointments, the panel itself would then 
take responsibility for the full procurement and appointment process for the 
new audit appointments effective from the 2018/19 financial year. 
 

9.  Given the timescales and the difficulties that may arise the option to choose 
to join the sector-led body created by the LGA is likely to be the most cost 
effective and efficient route for the Council to take. 
 

10.  PSAA formally contacted all authorities on 27 October inviting them to 
become an opted-in authority in accordance with the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations).  To opt in the Council must 
formally notify PSAA no later than 9 March 2017 that it wishes to do so by 
way of completion of a form of notice of acceptance. 
 

11.  The decision to opt in to the sector led body procurement can only be made 
under the Regulations as a result of the decision being taken by “the 
members of an authority meeting as a whole” or effectively a meeting of 
Council. 

33



12.  The Audit and Standards Committee is therefore asked to consider the 
content of this report and to recommend to Council that the PSAA route is 
accepted and that Harlow Council formally opts in to the procurement run by 
the sector led body for the purposes of appointing its external auditors from 
2018/19. 
 

13.  The Council will not incur a fee for the procurement exercise through PSAA, 
however there will be costs associated with the running of the contracts once 
appointed that will be recovered by PSAA through the Audit Scale Fees 
charged  to Councils participating in the scheme. 
 

14.  PSAA have prepared an information leaflet and a Frequently Asked 
Questions document for prospective councils wishing to opt in both of which 
are attached to this report for information. 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
The Council must put in place adequate arrangements to secure the appointment 
of its external audit service.  The recommendations and content of this report set 
out proposals to ensure that these requirements are met. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 sets out the arrangements for the 
audit of local authorities.  This report sets out the recommended option for 
securing the services of an external audit provider from 2018/19 onwards. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 
 
Background Papers 
Developing the option of a national scheme for local auditor appointments Public 
Sector Audit Appointments – A Prospectus August 2016 
Appointing Persons FAQ’s – PSAA October 2016 
 

34



www.psaa.co.uk
Public Sector
Audit Appointments

Developing the option  
of a national scheme for  
local auditor appointments

35



www.psaa.co.uk

“The LGA has worked hard to secure 
the option for local government to 
appoint auditors through a dedicated 
sector-led national procurement 
body. I am sure that this will deliver 
significant financial benefits to those 
who opt in.”

– Lord Porter CBE, Chairman,  
Local Government Association

36



Over the next few months all principal authorities will need to decide 

how their auditors will be appointed in the future. They may make the 

appointment themselves, or in conjunction with other bodies. Or they 

can take advantage of a national collective scheme which is designed to 

offer them a further choice. Choosing the national scheme should pay 

dividends in quality, in cost, in responsiveness and in convenience.

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) is leading the 

development of this national option. PSAA is a not-for-profit company 

which already administers the current audit contracts. It has been 

designated by the Department for Communities & Local Government 

(DCLG) to operate a collective scheme for auditor appointments for 

principal authorities (other than NHS bodies) in England. It is currently 

designing the scheme to reflect the sector’s needs and views.

The Local Government Association (LGA) is strongly supportive of this 

ambition, and 200+ authorities have already signalled their positive 

interest. This is an opportunity for local government, fire, police and 

other bodies to act in their own and their communities’ best interests.  

We hope you will be interested in the national scheme and its 

development. We would be happy to engage with you to hear your 

views – please contact us at generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

You will also find some questions at the end of this booklet  

which cover areas in which we would particularly welcome  

your feedback.

Public Sector
Audit Appointments37



www.psaa.co.uk

Audit does matter

High quality independent audit is one of the cornerstones of public 
accountability. It gives assurance that taxpayers’ money has been well 
managed and properly expended. It helps to inspire trust and confidence in the 
organisations and people responsible for managing public money.

Imminent changes to the arrangements for appointing the auditors of local 
public bodies are therefore very important. Following the abolition of the Audit 
Commission, local bodies will soon begin to make their own decisions about how 
and by whom their auditors are appointed. A list of the local government bodies 
affected can be found at the end of this booklet.

The Local Government Association (LGA) has played a leadership role in 
anticipating these changes and influencing the range of options available to 
local bodies. In particular, it has lobbied to ensure that, irrespective of size, 
scale, responsibilities or location, principal local government bodies can, if 
they wish, subscribe to a specially authorised national scheme which will 
take full responsibility for local auditor appointments which offer a high quality 
professional service and value for money.

The LGA supported PSAA’s successful application to the Department for 
Communities & Local Government (DCLG) to be appointed to deliver and 
manage this scheme. 

38



PSAA is well placed  
to award and manage 
audit contracts, and 
appoint local auditors 
under a national 
scheme
PSAA is an independent, not-for-profit company limited by guarantee and 
established by the LGA. It already carries out a number of functions in relation 
to auditor appointments under powers delegated by the Secretary of State for 
Communities & Local Government. However, those powers are time-limited and 
will cease when current contracts with audit firms expire with the completion 
of the 2017/18 audits for local government bodies, and the completion of the 
2016/17 audits for NHS bodies and smaller bodies.

The expiry of contracts will also mark the end of the current mandatory regime 
for auditor appointments. Thereafter, local bodies will exercise choice about 
whether they opt in to the authorised national scheme, or whether they make 
other arrangements to appoint their own auditors.

PSAA has been selected to be the trusted operator of the national scheme, 
formally specified to undertake this important role by the Secretary of State. 
The company is staffed by a team with significant experience in appointing 
auditors, managing contracts with audit firms and setting and determining audit 
fees. We intend to put in place an advisory group, drawn from the sector, to 
give us ready access to your views on the design and operation of the scheme. 
We are confident that we can create a scheme which delivers quality-assured 
audit services to every participating local body at a price which represents 
outstanding value for money.

Public Sector
Audit Appointments39



www.psaa.co.uk

“Many district councils will be very aware 
of the resource implications of making 
their own appointment. Joining a well-
designed national scheme has significant 
attractions.”

– Norma Atlay, President,  
Society of District Council Treasurers

“Police bodies have expressed very strong 
interest in a national scheme led by PSAA. 
Appointing the same auditor to both the 
PCC and the Chief Constable in any 
area must be the best way to maximise 
efficiency.”

– Sean Nolan, President,  
Police and Crime Commissioners  

Treasurers’ Society (PACCTS)

40



The national scheme 
can work for you

We believe that the national scheme can be an excellent option for all local 
bodies. Early indications are that many bodies agree - in a recent LGA survey 
more than 200 have expressed an interest in joining the scheme.

We plan to run the scheme in a way that will save time and resources for local 
bodies - time and resources which can be deployed to address other pressing 
priorities. Bodies can avoid the necessity to establish an auditor panel (required 
by the Local Audit & Accountability Act, 2014) and the need to manage their 
own auditor procurement. The scheme will take away those headaches and, 
assuming a high level of participation, be able to attract the best audit suppliers 
and command highly competitive prices.

The scope of public audit is wider than for private sector organisations. For 
example, it involves forming a conclusion on the body’s arrangements for 
securing value for money, dealing with electors’ enquiries and objections, and in 
some circumstances issuing public interest reports. PSAA will ensure that the 
auditors which it appoints are the most competent to carry out these functions.

Auditors must be independent of the bodies they audit, to enable them to them to 
carry out their work with objectivity and credibility, and in a way that commands 
public confidence. PSAA plans to take great care to ensure that every auditor 
appointment passes this test. It will also monitor any significant proposals, 
above an agreed threshold, for auditors to carry out consultancy or other non-
audit work to ensure that these do not undermine independence and public 
confidence.

The scheme will also endeavour to appoint the same auditors to bodies which 
are involved in formal collaboration/joint working initiatives or within combined 
authority areas, if the parties consider that a common auditor will enhance 
efficiency and value for money.

Public Sector
Audit Appointments41



www.psaa.co.uk

PSAA will ensure 
high quality audits

We will only contract with firms which have a proven track record in undertaking 
public audit work. In accordance with the 2014 Act, firms must be registered 
with one of the chartered accountancy institutes acting in the capacity of a 
Recognised Supervisory Body (RSB). The quality of their work will be subject 
to scrutiny by both the RSB and the Financial Reporting Council (FRC). Current 
indications are that fewer than ten large firms will register meaning that small 
local firms will not be eligible to be appointed to local public audit roles.

PSAA will ensure that firms maintain the appropriate registration and will liaise 
closely with RSBs and the FRC to ensure that any concerns are detected at 
an early stage and addressed effectively in the new regime. The company 
will take a close interest in feedback from audited bodies and in the rigour 
and effectiveness of firms’ own quality assurance arrangements, recognising 
that these represent some of the earliest and most important safety nets for 
identifying and remedying any problems arising. We will liaise with the National 
Audit Office (NAO) to help ensure that guidance to auditors is updated when 
necessary.

We will include obligations in relation to maintaining and continuously improving 
quality in our contract terms and quality criteria in our tender evaluation method.

42



PSAA will secure highly 
competitive prices

A top priority must be to seek to obtain the best possible prices for local audit 
services. PSAA’s objective will be to make independent auditor appointments at 
the most competitive aggregate rate achievable. 

Our current thinking is that the best prices will be obtained by letting three year 
contracts, with an option to extend to five years, to a relatively small number of 
appropriately registered firms in two or three large contract areas nationally. The 
value of each contract will depend on the prices bid, with the firms offering the 
best prices being awarded larger amounts of work. By having contracts with a 
number of firms we will be able to ensure independence and avoid dominance of 
the market by one or two firms.

Correspondingly, at this stage our thinking is to invite bodies to opt into the 
scheme for an initial term of three to five years. 

The procurement strategy will need to prioritise the importance of demonstrably 
independent appointments, in terms of both the audit firm appointed to each 
audited body and the procurement and appointment processes used. This will 
require specific safeguards in the design of the procurement and appointment 
arrangements.

Public Sector
Audit Appointments43



www.psaa.co.uk

“Early audit planning is a vital element 
of a timely audit. We need the auditors 
to be available and ready to go right 
away at the critical points in the final 
accounts process.”

– Steven Mair, City Treasurer,  
Westminster City Council 

“In forming a view on VFM 
arrangements it is essential that 
auditors have an awareness of the 
significant challenges and changes 
which the service is grappling with.”

– Charles Kerr, Chair,  
Fire Finance Network

44



PSAA will establish  
a fair scale of fees

Audit fees must ultimately be met by individual audited bodies. PSAA will ensure 
that fee levels are carefully managed by securing competitive prices from firms 
and by minimising PSAA’s own costs. The changes to our role and functions will 
enable us to run the new scheme with a smaller team of staff. PSAA is a not-for-
profit company and any surplus funds will be returned to scheme members.

PSAA will pool scheme costs and charge fees to audited bodies in accordance 
with a fair scale of fees which has regard to size, complexity and audit risk. 
Pooling means that everyone within the scheme will benefit from the most 
competitive prices. Current scale fees are set on this basis. Responses from 
audited bodies to recent fee consultations have been positive. 

PSAA will continue to consult bodies in connection with any proposals to 
establish or vary the scale of fees. However, we will not be able to consult on our 
proposed scale of fees until the initial major procurement has been completed 
and contracts with audit firms have been let. Fees will also reflect the number of 
scheme participants - the greater the level of participation, the better the value 
represented by our scale of fees. We will be looking for principal bodies to give 
firm commitments to join the scheme during Autumn 2016.

Public Sector
Audit Appointments45



The scheme offers 
multiple benefits for 
participating bodies

We believe that PSAA can deliver a national scheme which offers multiple benefits to 
the bodies which take up the opportunity to collaborate across the sector by opting into 
scheme membership.

Benefits include:

- assured appointment of a qualified, registered, independent auditor
- appointment, if possible, of the same auditors to bodies involved in significant 

collaboration/joint working initiatives or combined authorities, if the parties 
believe that it will enhance efficiency and value for money

- on-going management of independence issues
- securing highly competitive prices from audit firms
- minimising scheme overhead costs
- savings from one major procurement as opposed to a multiplicity of small 

procurements
- distribution of surpluses to participating bodies
- a scale of fees which reflects size, complexity and audit risk
- a strong focus on audit quality to help develop and maintain the market for the 

sector 
- avoiding the necessity for individual bodies to establish an auditor panel and to 

undertake an auditor procurement
- enabling time and resources to be deployed on other pressing priorities
- setting the benchmark standard for audit arrangements for the whole of the 

sector

We understand the balance required between ensuring independence and being 
responsive, and will continually engage with stakeholders to ensure we achieve it.

46



Public Sector
Audit Appointments

How can you help?

We are keen to receive feedback from local bodies concerning our plans for the 
future. Please let us have your views and let us know if a national scheme operated 
by PSAA would be right for your organisation.

In particular we would welcome your views on the following questions:

1. Is PSAA right to place emphasis on both quality and price as the essential 
pre-requisites for successful auditor appointments? 

2. Is three to five years an appropriate term for initial contracts and for bodies 
to sign up to scheme membership?

3. Are PSAA’s plans for a scale of fees which pools scheme costs and reflects 
size, complexity and audit risk appropriate? Are there any alternative 
approaches which would be likely to command the support of the sector?

4. Are the benefits of joining the national scheme, as outlined here, sufficiently 
attractive? Which specific benefits are most valuable to local bodies? Are 
there others you would like included?

5. What are the key issues which will influence your decisions about scheme 
membership?

6. What is the best way of us continuing our engagement with you on these 
issues?

Please reply to: generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

47



www.psaa.co.uk

The following bodies will be eligible to join the proposed national scheme for 
appointment of auditors to local bodies:

• county councils in England

• district councils

• London borough councils

• combined authorities

• passenger transport executives

• police and crime commissioners for a police area in England

• chief constables for an area in England

• national park authorities for a national park in England

• conservation boards

• fire and rescue authorities in England

• waste authorities

• the Greater London Authority and its functional bodies.

BOARD MEMBERS

Steve Freer (Chairman), former Chief Executive CIPFA

Caroline Gardner, Auditor General Scotland

Clive Grace, former Deputy Auditor General Wales

Stephen Sellers, Solicitor, Gowling WLG (UK) LLP

CHIEF OFFICER

Jon Hayes, former Audit Commission Associate Controller

48



“Maintaining audit quality is 
critically important. We need 
experienced audit teams who 
really understand our issues.”

– Andrew Burns, Director of  
Finance and Resources,  
Staffordshire County Council 

49



PSAA Ltd 
3rd Floor, Local Government House 
Smith Square 

London SW1P 3HZ

www.psaa.co.uk
Public Sector
Audit Appointments50



 

1 
 

Appointing person: Frequently asked questions (updated 27 October 2016) 

Question Response 

1. What is an appointing person and what bodies are eligible to 
opt in? 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) has been 
specified as an appointing person under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015, and has the power to make auditor 
appointments for audits of the accounts from 2018/19 on behalf 
of principal local government bodies that opt in, in accordance 
with the Regulations. PSAA is a not-for-profit company owned 
by the LGA’s Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA) 
and was established to operate the transitional arrangements 
following closure of the Audit Commission. The ‘appointing 
person’ is sometimes referred to as the sector-led body. 
 
Eligible bodies are only those principal local government bodies 
listed in schedule 2 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. This includes county councils, district councils, London 
Borough councils, unitary authorities, metropolitan councils, 
police bodies, fire and rescue authorities, joint authorities, 
combined authorities (covering elected regional mayors), 
national park authorities, conservation boards, PTEs, waste 
authorities, and the GLA and its functional bodies. Smaller 
authorities (such as parish councils) and NHS bodies, including 
accountable care organisations, are not eligible to opt in.  
 
A list of 493 local government bodies currently eligible for the 
appointing person scheme is available on the appointing 
person page of our website (http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-
the-transition/appointing-person/).  
 

51

http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/supporting-the-transition/appointing-person/


 

2 
 

Question Response 

2. When will invitations to opt in be issued? The invitation to opt in was issued on 27 October 2016 with a 
closing date for acceptance of 9 March 2017. This allows 
considerably longer than the statutory minimum period of eight 
weeks, for the requirement under the regulations that 
authorities must make the decision to opt in at a full council 
meeting. As corporations sole, the full council requirement does 
not apply to police and crime commissioners. 
 
The aim is to award contracts to audit firms by June 2017, 
giving six months to consult with authorities and confirm 
appointments before the 31 December 2017 deadline to 
appoint auditors for the following financial year.   
 
In order to maximise the potential economies of scale from 
agreeing large contracts with firms, and to manage any auditor 
independence issues, PSAA needs as much certainty as 
possible about the volume and location of work it is able to offer 
to firms. Our  timetable means that we will need to start 
preparing tender documentation early in 2017, so we will need 
to know which authorities have opted in. 

3. How do we have to make the decision to accept the 
invitation to opt in? 

In accordance with Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015, a principal authority will need to 
make the decision to opt in at full council (authority meeting as 
a whole), except where the authority is a corporation sole (such 
as a police and crime commissioner), in which case the 
function must be exercised by the holder of the office. 

4. Can we join after it has been set up or do we have to join at 
the beginning? 

One of the main benefits of an appointing person approach is 
the ability to achieve economies of scale as a result of being 
able to offer larger volumes of work. The greater the number of 
participants we have signed up at the outset, the better the 

52



 

3 
 

Question Response 

economies of scale we are likely to achieve. This will not 
prevent authorities from applying to join the appointing person 
scheme in later years (and PSAA must agree to the request 
unless there are reasonable grounds to refuse), but they will 
need to make their own arrangements to appoint an auditor in 
the interim, which will include establishing an auditor panel. In 
order to be in the best position we would encourage as many 
authorities as possible to commit by accepting the invitation 
within the specified timeframe, that is by 9 March 2017. 

5. Will membership be free for existing members of the LGA? 
 

The option to join the appointing person scheme will be open to 
all principal local government authorities listed under Schedule 
2 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. There will not 
be a fee to join the sector-led arrangements. The audit fees 
that opted-in bodies will be charged will cover the costs to 
PSAA of appointing auditors and managing the arrangements. 
We believe that audit fees achieved through large contracts will 
be lower than the costs that individual authorities will be able to 
negotiate. In addition, by opting into the PSAA offer, authorities 
will avoid the costs of their own procurement and management 
of contracts and also the requirement to set up an auditor panel 
with independent members. 

6. How will we be able to influence the development of the 
appointing person scheme and associated contracts with 
audit firms? 

We have established a stakeholder advisory panel which will 
comment on our proposals. Members of the panel are drawn 
from representative organisations for councils, police and fire 
bodies. The first meeting of the group was held on 30 
September 2016. Further meetings are scheduled for 23 
November 2016, 26 January 2017 and 25 May 2017. 
 
PSAA continues to work in partnership with the LGA in setting 
up the appointing person scheme and you can feed in 

53



 

4 
 

Question Response 

comments and observations to PSAA by emailing 
appointingperson@psaa.co.uk and via the LGA and their 
principal advisors. 

7. Will there be standard contract terms and conditions? The audit contracts between PSAA and the audit firms will 
require firms to deliver audits compliant with the National Audit 
Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice. We are aware that 
authorities would like to understand how performance and 
delivery will be monitored and managed. This is one of the 
issues that could be discussed with the stakeholder advisory 
panel (see Q6). 

8. What will be the length of the contracts? The length of contract between PSAA and firms will be five 
years. 

9. In addition to the Code of Audit Practice requirements set 
out by the NAO, will the contract be flexible to enable 
authorities to include the audit of wholly owned companies 
and group accounts? 

Local authority group accounts are part of the accounts 
produced under the CIPFA SORP and are subject to audit in 
line with the NAO Code of Audit Practice. They will continue to 
be part of the statutory audit.  
 
Company audits are subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006 and are not covered by the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015. Local authority companies will be 
able to appoint the same audit firm as PSAA appoints to 
undertake the principal body audit, should they so wish. 

10. Will bodies that opt in be able to seek information from 
potential suppliers and undertake some form of evaluation 
to choose a supplier? 

PSAA will run the tendering exercise, and will evaluate bids 
and award contracts. PSAA will consult authorities on individual 
auditor appointments. The appointment of an auditor 
independently of the body to be audited is an important feature 
of the appointing person arrangements and will continue to 
underpin strong corporate governance in the public sector. 

54

mailto:appointingperson@psaa.co.uk


 

5 
 

Question Response 

11. Will the price be fixed or will there be a range of prices? The fee for the audit of a body that opts in will reflect the size, 
audit risk and complexity of the work required. PSAA will 
establish a system for setting the fee which is fair to all opted-in 
authorities. As a not-for-profit organisation, PSAA will be able 
to return any surpluses to opted-in authorities after all costs 
have been met. 

12. We have shared service arrangements with our 
neighbouring bodies and we are looking to ensure that we 
share the same auditor. Will the appointing person scheme 
allow for this? 

PSAA will be able to make appointments to all principal local 
government bodies listed in Schedule 2 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 that are ‘relevant authorities’ and not 
excluded as a result of being smaller authorities, for example 
parish councils.  
 
In setting up the new arrangements, one of our aims is to make 
auditor appointments that take account of joint working and 
shared service arrangements. Requests for the same auditor 
as other authorities will need to be balanced with auditor 
independence considerations. As we have set out in our 
prospectus, auditors must be independent of the bodies they 
audit. PSAA will have an obligation under the provisions of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to ensure that every 
auditor appointment it makes passes this test and auditors 
must comply with the requirements of the Ethical Standards 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council. We will need 
information from opted-in authorities on potential independence 
considerations and joint working arrangements, and will also 
need information on independence issues from the audit firms. 
Risks to auditor independence include, for example, an audit 
firm having previously been engaged to advise on a major 
procurement which could, of course, later be subject to audit.  

55



 

6 
 

Question Response 

13. We have a joint committee which no longer has a statutory 
requirement to have an external auditor but has agreed in 
the interests of all parties to continue to engage one. Is it 
possible to use this process as an option to procure the 
external auditor for the joint committee? 

The requirement for joint committees to produce statutory 
accounts ceased after production of the 2014/15 accounts and 
they are therefore not listed in Schedule 2. Joint committees 
that have opted to produce accounts voluntarily and obtain 
non-statutory assurance on them will need to make their own 
local arrangements. 

14. How will the appointing person scheme ensure audit firms 
are not over-stretched and that the competition in the 
market place is increased? 

The number of firms eligible to undertake local public audit is 
regulated through the Financial Reporting Council and the 
recognised Supervisory Bodies (RSBs). Only appropriately 
accredited firms will be able to bid for appointments whether 
that is through PSAA or an auditor panel. 
 
PSAA is developing a procurement strategy which may include 
a limit on the total business available to any one firm.  
 
One of the advantages of the appointing person option is to 
make appointments that help to ensure that each successful 
firm has a sufficient quantum of work to make it possible for 
them to invest in public sector specific training, maintain a 
centre of excellence or hub that will mean: 

 firms have a regional presence;   

 greater continuity of staff input; and 

 a better understanding the local political, economic and 
social environment. 

15. Will the appointing person scheme contract with a number 
of different audit firms and how will they be allocated to 
authorities? 

PSAA will organise the contracts to maximise the number of 
firms appointed nationally. The minimum number of audit firms 
is probably four or five (depending on the number of bodies that 
opt in). This is required, not just to ensure competition and 
capacity, but because each firm is required to comply with the 

56



 

7 
 

Question Response 

FRC’s ethical standards. This means that an individual firm 
may not be appointable for ‘independence’ reasons, for 
example, because they have undertaken consultancy work at 
an audited body. PSAA will consult on appointments that allow 
each firm a balanced portfolio of work subject to independence 
considerations. 

16. What will be the process to feed in opinions from 
customers of current auditors if there are issues? 

PSAA will seek feedback on its auditors as part of its 
engagement with the sector. PSAA will continue to have a clear 
complaints process and will also undertake contract monitoring 
of the firms it appoints. 

17. What is the timetable for set up and key decisions? We expect the key points in the timetable to be broadly: 

 establish an overall strategy for procurement - by 
November 2016; 

 achieve ‘sign-up’ of opted-in authorities - by 9 March 
2017; 

 invite tenders from audit firms - by April 2017; 

 award contracts - by 30 June 2017; 

 consult on and make final auditor appointments - by 31 
December 2017; and 

 consult on, propose audit fees and publish fees - by 31 
March 2018. 

18. What are the terms of reference of the appointing person? PSAA is a not-for-profit company wholly owned by the IDeA 
(the IDeA is wholly owned by the LGA). PSAA will continue to 
operate as an independent company, although there will be 
changes to its governance arrangements and its founding 
documents to reflect the fact that it will be an appointing person 
going forward rather than a transitional body which has 
overseen the transition from the Audit Commission to the new 
appointing person arrangements.  

57



 

8 
 

Question Response 

19. Will the appointing person take on all audit panel roles and 
therefore mitigate the need for there to be one in each 
individual authority? 

Opting into the appointing person scheme will remove the need 
to set up an auditor panel. This is set out in the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015. 

20. What will be the arrangements for overseeing the quality of 
audit work undertaken by the audit firms appointed by the 
appointing person? 

PSAA will only contract with firms which have a proven track 
record in undertaking public audit work. In accordance with the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, firms must be 
registered with one of the chartered accountancy institutes 
acting in the capacity of a Recognised Supervisory Body 
(RSB). The quality of the firms’ work will be subject to scrutiny 
by both the RSB and the Financial Reporting Council (FRC). 
Current indications are that fewer than ten large firms will 
register, meaning that small local firms will not be eligible to be 
appointed to local public audit roles. 
 

PSAA will ensure that firms maintain the appropriate 
registration and will liaise closely with RSBs and the FRC to 
ensure that any concerns are detected at an early stage and 
addressed effectively in the new regime. PSAA will take a close 
interest in feedback from opted-in bodies and in the rigour and 
effectiveness of firms’ own quality assurance arrangements, 
recognising that these represent some of the earliest and most 
important safety nets for identifying and remedying any 
problems. We will liaise with the NAO to help ensure that 
guidance to auditors is updated when necessary. 

58



 

9 
 

Question Response 

21. In what circumstances can an auditor be changed during 
the five year opt-in period, and how does this differ from 
locally procured arrangements? 

The main circumstances in which PSAA will consider changing 
an auditor appointment during the five year compulsory 
appointing period are either for independence reasons, for 
example the identification of a conflict of interest involving the 
existing audit firm, or because of the emergence of new joint 
working arrangements. 

 

An authority appointing its own auditor will find it more difficult 
to change their auditor appointment during the contracted 
period, as this would require the authority to conduct a new 
selection and procurement exercise. The appointing person 
scheme will therefore provide more flexibility for opted-in 
bodies. 

22. How will audit fee levels be set for each individual body 
with the objective of recovering PSAA costs at the 
aggregate level? 

PSAA will pool scheme costs and charge fees to audited 
bodies in accordance with a fair scale of fees which has regard 
to size, complexity and audit risk, most likely as currently 
evidenced by audit fees for 2016/17. Pooling means that 
everyone in the scheme will benefit from the most competitive 
prices. Fees will reflect the number of scheme participants – 
the greater the level of participation, the better the value 
represented by our scale fees. 
 

2018/19 scale fees will be determined by the prices achieved in 
the auditor procurement that PSAA will undertake during the 
early part of 2017. We expect to consult on the proposed scale 
of fees in autumn 2017 and to publish the fees applicable in 
March 2018. Where more or less work is required than is 
envisaged in the scale fee, a fee variation process will apply. 
The variations process will ensure that fees for additional work 

59



 

10 
 

Question Response 

cannot be invoiced until agreed with the audited body and 
approved by PSAA. 

23. What will be the future arrangements under the appointing 
person scheme for certifying grant claims?  

PSAA’s audit contracts from 2018/19 will not cover certification 
work. PSAA has no power under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to make certification arrangements, 
and its arrangements will apply only to opted-in bodies. Any 
certification work required by grant paying government 
departments will need to be undertaken using a tripartite 
agreement between an audited body, an audit firm and the 
grant paying body, under instructions prepared by the grant 
paying body.  

The Department for Work and Pensions is developing its 
arrangements for housing benefit subsidy claim certification 
from 2018/19 on this basis. Where applicable, local authorities 
will appoint an auditor for this certification work (for which an 
auditor panel is not required) and may if they wish choose to 
use the same auditor appointed by PSAA for the audit of the 
accounts, if they are opted-in bodies. 

24. How will the appointing person scheme deal with an 
authority that is dissatisfied with its auditor and wants a 
change (e.g. because of quality, relationships, or a conflict 
of interest)? 

As with the current arrangements, where an authority is 
dissatisfied with its auditor, concerns should be raised in the 
first instance with the firm’s Engagement Lead and 
subsequently with the firm’s PSAA Contact Partner (as 
indicated on communications between the firm and the 
authority).  
 
If the authority is not satisfied with the response of the firm, 
then the matter should be raised with PSAA.  
 

60



 

11 
 

Question Response 

As appointing person, PSAA appoints a firm as auditor to an 
authority. The firm is responsible for nominating an individual to 
act as the Engagement Leader on the audit of an authority.   

 

PSAA will consider changing an auditor appointment in 
extremis if an authority is dissatisfied, but would expect the 
authority and the firm to have exhausted all avenues for 
resolution before doing so. Maintaining the independence of 
the auditor is an important part of this consideration. 
 

PSAA will consider changing an auditor appointment during the 
five year compulsory appointing periods, if a conflict of interest 
involving the existing audit firm is identified, or because of the 
emergence of new joint working arrangements. 
 

The appointing person scheme will have the flexibility to 
provide an audit alternative if required in these cases.  

 

PSAA will be monitoring the quality of audit services provided 
as part of the contractual terms of appointment to be agreed 
with firms. 

25. Will an auditor be able to provide my authority with non-
audit consultancy services? 

The independence requirements for all auditors within the local 
public audit regime are the same whether locally appointed, or 
part of the appointing person regime. These requirements are 
specified by the Financial Reporting Council in the Ethical 
Standard and applied to local public audit as determined by the 
NAO. 
The services that an auditor can provide are the same, 
whatever the appointment method. 

61



 

12 
 

Question Response 

 
As the Appointing Person, PSAA will perform the role otherwise 
required of an auditor panel to advise the authority on the 
maintenance of the independence of the auditor [Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 section 10(1)]. 
 

PSAA will consider changing an auditor appointment during the 
five-year compulsory appointing period for independence 
reasons, if for example the identification of a conflict of interest 
involving the existing audit firm, or because of the emergence 
of new joint working arrangements. 

 

 

62



REPORT TO: AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

DATE: 23 NOVEMBER 2016  

TITLE: REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ITS TERMS OF 
REFERENCE 

LEAD OFFICER: SARAH MARSH, INTERNAL AUDIT 
MANAGER (01279) 446884 

CONTRIBUTING AUTHOR COUNCILLOR KAREN CLEMPNER, 
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT AND 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

RECOMMENDED that: 

A the Committee approves the self-assessment results which shows Harlow 
Council is compliant with recommended best practice for an effective audit 
committee. 

B the Committee approves the action plan contained within the report. 

C the Committee requests that a review of its terms of reference be reported to 
the March meeting. 

 

BACKGROUND 

1. Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 requires a 
local authority to review the effectiveness of its system of internal control at least 
once a year.  Following the review, the Committee is required to approve the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  
 

2. The effective operation of the Audit Committee forms a key element of the 
Council’s assurance framework.  It is considered best practice that an 
assessment of the effectiveness of the Audit Committee should be scheduled to 
form part of the AGS process. 

 
3. In addition, an Audit Committee should regularly review its terms of reference to 

ensure it satisfies the core functions of an audit committee as prescribed by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  The terms of 
reference for the Audit and Standards Committee have not been reviewed or 
amended since its inception in 2012.  

  

63

Agenda Item 10



APPROACH TO THE EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW 

4. This effectiveness review was performed by the Internal Audit Manager in 
conjunction with Chairman of the Committee based on guidance issued in the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Audit 
Committees Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (2013 edition).   
 

5. The self-assessment checklist (Appendix A) has been completed and members 
are requested to discuss the checklist, agree its contents and approve the 
proposed action plan for improvements. 

RESULTS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW 

6. The results of the self-assessment show that the Council is able to demonstrate 
compliance with recommended best practice for an effective audit committee, 
with some areas of minor improvement required. 
 

7. Resulting from the attached checklist (Appendix A), areas identified for 
improvement are listed in the Action Plan below: 

Area Description Actions 

Role and 
remit 

The Audit Committee should 
regularly review their Terms of 
Reference to ensure it satisfies the 
core functions of an audit 
committee as prescribed by CIFPA. 

Ensure the Committee’s 
terms of reference are 
reviewed annually. 

Value for 
Money 

Consider the Committee’s role in 
relation to value for money 

Assess as part of annual 
review of the Committee’s 
terms of reference.  

Partnerships Determine the Committee’s role 
regarding the assurances available 
in helping determine the adequacy 
of governance and risk 
management arrangements for 
partnerships.  

As part of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) 
the Committee should 
consider the coverage of 
assurances that underpin the 
AGS to make sure 
partnerships are adequately 
covered. 

Skills and 
knowledge 

The composition of the Committee 
is a key factor in achieving the 
characteristics of a good audit 
committee. As membership of the 
Committee is drawn from elected 
representatives, the depth and 
knowledge and experience that are 
desirable may be at times harder to 
achieve. Audit Committee 

With the aid of Corporate and 
Governance Support the 
Committee could undertake a 
skills and knowledge analysis, 
considering alternatives if 
there are significant 
deficiencies. Measures could 
range, for example, from 
additional training or 

64



Area Description Actions 
members should be willing to 
review their knowledge and skills, 
for example as part of a self-
assessment process or training 
needs analysis. 

development opportunities to 
co-option of independent 
members.  

Performance 
Feedback 

The Audit Committee should be 
held to account on a periodic basis 
by the Council. There are a number 
of ways this can be achieved 
including an annual report from the 
Committee to Council and through 
independent review. 

For the March 2017 meeting 
prepare an annual report by 
the Committee covering 
2016/17. (Note: examples 
from other Councils are 
readily available including 
Broxbourne and Epping 
Forest Councils). 

Approach to 
Fraud 

The Audit Committee should have 
oversight of the Council’s strategy 
to counter fraud.  

On an annual basis review 
the Council’s approach to 
fraud. This could be achieved 
by ensuring the adequacy of 
counter fraud arrangements 
are evaluated and reported in 
the AGS or through periodic 
review of the Council’s Anti-
Fraud Strategy and 
processes.  

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE REVIEW 

8. Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities 2013 represents the 
latest best practice from CIPFA, and takes account of additional requirements 
stemming from the introduction of Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS).  
 

9. Internal Audit has carried out a comparison of the Committee’s current Terms of 
Reference (Appendix B) with the 2013 CIPFA model terms of reference 
(Appendix C) in order to highlight the Committee where future changes might be 
advised.  

 
10. The current terms of reference are still fit for purpose, however, the Committee 

may wish to consider whether the current terms should be amended to: 
• Clarify the Committee’s role in respect of value for money 
• Clarify the Committee’s role in considering the Council’s overall 

framework of assurance and co-ordination of assurance providers  
• Specify the ways in which it holds Internal Audit to account e.g. by 

reviewing its Charter, resource requirements, and any significant changes 
to the risk-based internal audit plan 

65



• Include the requirement to report periodically to full Council on its own 
effectiveness  
 

11. At the request of the Committee, Internal Audit can advise on an updated terms 
of reference and present this at a future meeting. 

IMPLICATIONS 

Place (includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

Finance (includes ICT) 
An effective Audit Committee has a pivotal role regarding the Annual Governance 
Statement which explains how the Council delivers good governance and reviews 
the effectiveness of these arrangements. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

Community Wellbeing (includes Regeneration, Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

Governance (includes HR) 
To comply with CIPFA guidelines and as part of the process for gathering evidence 
for the production of the Annual Governance Statement, the Council is required to 
review the effectiveness of its Audit Committee.  This review ensures that the 
Council fulfils the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2015. 

Periodic review by the Committee of its terms of reference complies with 
recommended best practice for audit committees. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

  

66



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

CIPFA Audit Committees Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (edition 
2013) 

CIPFA self-assessment of good practice and Evaluating the Effectiveness of the 
Audit Committee 

Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 

AGS – Annual Governance Statement 

CIPFA – The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Self-Assessment Checklist 

Appendix B – Committee’s current Terms of Reference (dated 2012)  

Appendix C – 2013 CIPFA model terms of reference  

 

67



Appendix A 

Page 1 of 6 
 

Harlow Audit and Standards Committee self-assessment:  

This appendix provides a high-level review that incorporates the key principles set out in CIPFA's Position Statement: Audit 
Committees in Local Authorities and Police. Where an audit committee has a high degree of performance against the good practice 
principles then it is an indicator that the committee is soundly based and has in place a knowledgeable membership. These are the 
essential factors in developing an effective audit committee.  

A regular self-assessment can be used to support the planning of the audit committee work programme and training plans. It can 
also inform an annual report. 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

Audit committee purpose and governance  

1 Does the authority have a dedicated audit 
committee?  

The Committee meets 4 times a 
year. 

  

2 Does the audit committee report directly to 
full council? (Applicable to local 
government only) 

Council receives all minutes from the 
Audit and Standards Committee. 

  

3 Do the terms of reference (ToR) clearly set 
out the purpose of the committee in 
accordance with CIPFA's Position 
Statement? 

The Audit and Standards Committee 
was established at the Annual 
Council meeting on 24 May 2012 and 
its ToR are embedded within the 
Constitution.  

The Committee should review its 
ToR periodically (ideally annually) to 
ensure they remain up to date. 

  

4 Is the role and purpose of the audit 
committee understood and accepted 
across the authority? 

The Audit and Standards Committee 
forms part of the Council’s committee 
structure. Its role and function is set 
out in the Council’s Constitution. 

  

68



Appendix A 

Page 2 of 6 
 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

5 Does the audit committee provide support 
to the authority in meeting the 
requirements of good governance? 

Through its Terms of Reference, 
reports it receives, member training, 
review and challenge of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS), 
annual accounts, representation by 
members and officers. 

  

6 Are the arrangements to hold the 
committee to account for its performance 
operating satisfactorily? 

 There are arrangements for 
holding the Committee to account 
but these have not had to be 
tested. CIPFA guidance 
recommends the Committee 
reports an assessment of their 
performance at least annually. 
Some committees produce an 
Annual Report; others undertake 
their own annual effectiveness 
review. 

 

Functions of the committee 

7 Do the committee's terms of reference 
(ToR) explicitly address all the core areas 
identified in CIPFA’s Position Statement: 

• good governance 
• assurance framework 
• internal and external audit 
• financial reporting 
• risk management 
• value for money or best value 
• counter fraud and corruption 

These are covered in the 
Committee’s ToR except value for 
money, although this is implicit under 
good governance and review of the 
Annual Governance Statement. As 
highlighted above, the Committee’s 
ToR should be reviewed periodically 
(preferably annually). 

  

69



Appendix A 

Page 3 of 6 
 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

8 Is an annual evaluation undertaken to 
assess whether the committee is fulfilling 
its terms of reference and that adequate 
consideration has been given to all core 
areas? 

  Not previously 
undertaken. 
However, this 
report to the 
November 2016 
committee on its 
effectiveness has 
started to address 
this.  

9 Has the audit committee considered the 
wider areas identified in CIPFA's Position 
Statement and whether it would be 
appropriate for the committee to undertake 
them? 

Note: CIPFA guidance states that Audit 
Committees can also support their 
authorities by undertaking a wider role in 
other areas including: 
• considering governance, risk or control 

matters at the request of other 
committees or statutory officers 

• working with the local standards 
committee to support ethical values and 
reviewing the arrangements to achieve 
those values 

• reviewing and monitoring treasury 
management arrangements in 
accordance with CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 

• providing oversight of other public 
reports, such as the annual report. 

The Committee now includes the 
Standards Committee as evidenced 
in their Terms of Reference. 

Other roles as suggested by CIPFA 
are adequately covered by other 
committees, Cabinet and the full 
Council. 

  

70



Appendix A 

Page 4 of 6 
 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

10 Where coverage of core areas has been 
found to be limited, are plans in place to 
address this? 

 Various reports received by the 
Committee throughout the year 
ensure the majority of core areas 
are covered. This includes the 
Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS), Internal Audit’s annual 
report and its regular progress 
reports, External Audit reports 
(including the Statement of 
Accounts), and risk management 
reports. 

Two areas where enhancements 
could be made are: 
• Partnership Governance - the 

Committee should consider 
what assurances it requires in 
this area (although the Internal 
Audit Plan includes 
partnerships as a theme). 

• In line with good practice, the 
Committee should periodically 
review the Council’s fraud 
strategy and its approach to 
anti-fraud. This will take place 
at the November 2016 
meeting. 

 

11 Has the committee maintained its non-
advisory role by not taking on any 
decision-making powers that are not in line 
with its core purpose? 

Yes   

71



Appendix A 

Page 5 of 6 
 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

Membership and support 

12 Has an effective audit committee structure 
and composition of the committee been 
selected? This should include: 

• separation from the executive 
• an appropriate mix of knowledge and 

skills among the membership 
• a size of committee that is not unwieldy 
• where independent members are used, 

that they have been appointed using an 
appropriate process. 

Ten councillors sit on the 
Committee, with the main political 
parties represented, who bring to the 
Committee a range of experiences 
and skills. This is supplemented with 
periodic member training. 

There are no independent members.   

  

13 Does the chair of the committee have 
appropriate knowledge and skills? 

Yes    

14 Are arrangements in place to support the 
committee with briefings and training? 

The formal work programme for the 
Committee is reviewed at each 
meeting. Periodic training 
opportunities (internal and external) 
made available to members 
including joint events with 
Broxbourne Council and Epping 
Forest District Council 

  

15 Has the membership of the committee 
been assessed against the core 
knowledge and skills framework and found 
to be satisfactory? 

 Member requirements and core 
knowledge and skills framework 
taken into account when 
developing the training 
programme. A formal knowledge 
and skills analysis should be 
considered by the Committee. 

 

72



Appendix A 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No 

16 Does the committee have good working 
relations with key people and 
organisations, including external audit, 
internal audit and the chief financial 
officer? 

Head of Finance (Section 151 
Officer), the Monitoring Officer and 
the Chairman of the Audit and 
Standards Committee agree that this 
is the case. 

  

17 Is adequate secretariat and administrative 
support to the committee provided? 

Yes   

Effectiveness of the committee 

18 Has the committee obtained feedback on 
its performance from those interacting with 
the committee or relying on its work? 

 Not formally requested. However, 
the Chairman meets regularly 
with the Internal Audit Manager 
and Head of Finance and has 
access to External Audit. A more 
formal process to be considered 
in line with point 8 above. 

 

19 Has the committee evaluated whether and 
how it is adding value to the organisation? 

 The Committee looks at itself by 
way of assessing its effectiveness 
and governance arrangements.  
An annual report from the Audit 
and Standards Committee would 
assist with the process.  

 

20 Does the committee have an action plan to 
improve any areas of weakness? 

  An action plan to 
address relevant 
issues has been 
reported to the 
Committee as part 
of this report.  

 

73



Appendix B: Current Terms of Reference for Harlow Audit and Standards 
Committee 
 
The Audit and Standards Committee was established at the Annual Council meeting 
on 24 May 2012. Its role is two-fold: 
  

1. Audit - The Committee oversees the Council's internal audit and risk 
functions; receives and approves external audit reports; scrutinises the 
Annual Statement of Accounts; makes reports and recommendations to the 
Cabinet, Committees and the Council as a whole on the adequacy of its 
corporate governance and risk management arrangements and the 
associated control environment. 

  
2. Standards - The Committee deals with a range of matters including issues 

concerning Councillors' conduct, provides advice and guidance to the Council, 
the Cabinet and individual Councillors and advises on the application and 
review of the Constitution. 

 
 
The Terms of Reference of the Audit and Standards Committee are as follows: 
  
Audit 
  
1. To consider the Audit Manager’s annual report and opinion, the summary of 
Internal Audit activity and the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s 
corporate governance arrangements. 
  
2. To consider summaries of Internal Audit reports. 
  
3. To consider reports from Internal Audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within reasonable timescales. 
  
4. To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the 
providers of Internal Audit services. 
  
5. To consider the external auditor’s Annual Audit and Inspection Letter and other 
reports. 
  
6. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives 
value for money. 
  
7. To liaise over the appointment of the Council’s external auditor. 
  
8. To commission work from Internal Audit and the external auditor. 
  
Regulatory framework 
  
9. To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer, 
Statutory Officer or any Council body. 
  

74



10. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 
corporate governance in the Council. 
  
11. To monitor Council policies on whistle blowing, for contraventions of financial and 
other procedures or fraud-related situations; Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy and 
complaints. 
  
12. To monitor the production of the Annual Governance Statement and recommend 
its adoption to the Cabinet. 
  
13. To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and 
recommend necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice. 
  
14. To consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other published standards 
and controls. 
  
Accounts 
  
15. To review the annual Statement of Accounts and consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from 
the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of 
the Cabinet and/or the Full Council. 
  
16. To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from their audit of the accounts. 
  
Standards 
  
17. Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-
opted persons of Committees. 
  
18. Assisting Councillors and co-opted persons of Committees to observe the Code 
of Conduct. 
  
19. Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct. 
  
20. Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct. 
  
21. Advising and/or censuring and/or imposing a sanction on a Councillor or co-
opted person of a Committee (or former Councillor or co-opted person) of the 
Council. 
  
22. Having oversight of all aspects of Councillor development. 
  
23. Receiving annual reports in a monitoring and guidance role on whistle blowing, 
bullying and harassment. 
  
24. Being fully involved in any ethical review of the Council or its activities. 
  

75



Meetings are open to members of the public, except for when confidential 
information is being considered. 
  
Members of the public may ask questions at meetings of the Audit and Standards 
Committee. 

 

76

http://www.harlow.gov.uk/questions


Appendix C - Audit Committees: Practical Guidance For Local 
Authorities And Police (2013 Edition) 

SUGGESTED TERMS OF REFERENCE – LOCAL AUTHORITIES  
 
Statement of purpose  
1  Our audit committee is a key component of [name of authority]’s corporate 

governance. It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, 
assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 
financial standards.  

2  The purpose of our audit committee is to provide independent assurance to the 
members [or identify others charged with governance in your authority] of the 
adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal control 
environment. It provides independent review of [name of authority]’s 
governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal audit 
and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place.  

 
Governance, risk and control 
3  To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good 

governance framework and consider annual governance reports and 
assurances.  

4  To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and consider 
whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, 
taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk management and 
control.  

5  To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.  

6  To consider the council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately 
addresses the risks and priorities of the council.  

7  To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
council.  

8  To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 
committee.  

9  To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 
implementation of agreed actions.  

10  To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from 
fraud and corruption.  

11  To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources.  

77



Internal audit  
12  To approve the internal audit charter.  
13  To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers 

of internal audit services and to make recommendations.  
14  To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s resource 

requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work 
required to place reliance upon those other sources.  

15  To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 
resource requirements.  

16  To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal 
audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations.  

17  To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit’s 
performance during the year, including the performance of external providers of 
internal audit services. These will include:  
a) Updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 
concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work.  
b) Regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme.  
c) Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform to 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local Government Application 
Note, considering whether the non-conformance is significant enough that it 
must be included in the Annual Governance Statement.  

18  To consider the head of internal audit’s annual report:  
a) The statement of the level of conformance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards and Local Government Application Note and the results of the 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme that supports the statement – 
these will indicate the reliability of the conclusions of internal audit.  
b) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control together with the 
summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will assist the committee in 
reviewing the Annual Governance Statement.  

19 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.  
20 To receive reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit 

has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the 
implementation of agreed actions.  

21 To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and in 
particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place 
at least once every five years.  

22 To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the Annual 
Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations (see Appendix A).  

78



23  To support the development of effective communication with the head of 
internal audit.  

 
External audit  
24 To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the report 

to those charged with governance.  
25 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.  
26 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 

gives value for money.  
27 To commission work from internal and external audit.  
28 To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 

external and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.  
 
Financial reporting  
29 To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be 
brought to the attention of the council.  

30 To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from the audit of the accounts.  

 
Accountability arrangements  
31 To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s findings, 

conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness 
of their governance, risk management and internal control frameworks; financial 
reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions. 

32 To report to full council on a regular basis on the committee’s performance in 
relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in 
meeting its purpose.  

 
 

79



REPORT TO: AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

DATE: 23 NOVEMBER 2016 

TITLE: INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY REPORT  

LEAD OFFICER: 

 

SARAH MARSH, INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER 
(01279) 446884 

 

RECOMMENDED that: 

A the Committee reviews the outcomes of the work of the Internal Audit service 
and identifies any issues for further consideration. 

PROGRESS AGAINST AUDIT PLAN 

1. As detailed in Appendix A, good progress is being made against the 2016/17 
Audit Plan.  Audit timings have been agreed with CMT/HoS to ensure a steady 
flow of reports throughout the year.  

INTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS 

2. The following three reports have been issued since the Committee received its 
last update in September 2016: 

 
• Supported Housing – Access Control (Substantial Assurance) – This audit 

was carried out at the request of management and in addition to the agreed 
audit plan.  The audit focused on reviewing the process for managing keys 
and key safes for sheltered housing and community-based Careline service 
users.  It was found that robust controls and processes are in place and 
being followed by staff.  It was also noted that the Supported Housing 
Service had carried out significant work in reducing the numbers of keys held 
from over 1,000 to just nine – with the rest being replaced by key safes 
which are more secure. 

 
• Health & Safety – Lone Working (Moderate Assurance) – The audit 

examined whether risks to lone workers are identified and managed with a 
particular focus on Community Safety, Environmental Health, Facilities 
Management, and Housing Services.  Lone working in the operational areas 
audited was well managed with robust processes to ensure managers 
monitor officers working away from the Council offices.  There is a corporate 
policy in place for lone working and although some officers have not seen it, 
the majority are aware it is available on the Infonet.  Risk assessments do 
not exist for all service areas and, where they are in place, there is no 
consistent approach to the assessment of lone working risks.  Risk 
assessments are an important part of the health and safety framework to 

80

Agenda Item 11



ensure the Council is doing enough to meet its legal obligations in keeping 
staff safe.  Management recognises this and has undertaken to review 
existing risk assessments, identify training needs and develop a more 
common approach. 

 
• Building Control Out of Hours Service (Follow Up) – This follow up exercise 

looked at the current arrangements for the joint working with Uttlesford 
District Council to provide out-of-hours cover for the Councils’ statutory duty 
to inspect and give instructions on potentially dangerous structures.  The 
arrangement was found to be suitably controlled and provides value for 
money for Harlow Council.  

ONGOING AUDIT WORK 

3. A number of assignments in the 2016-17 Audit Plan are intended to provide 
advice and guidance to the Council throughout the year on current issues.  As 
these assignments will not normally result in a single, traditional audit report, 
Internal Audit will summarise its output here for Councillors’ information: 
 
• Harlow Trading Services – The Internal Audit Manager continues to attend the 

HTS/Kier Harlow Project Group for governance which contributes to the 
transition from joint venture to local authority trading company.  Internal Audit 
has recently raised the issues of data sharing and of Officer interests, gifts 
and hospitality in respect of the new company, which Council Officers are now 
seeking to address.  
 

• Agresso Upgrade Project – Internal Audit continues to provide control advice 
and act as ‘Critical Friend’ to the project team.  
 

• Housing Fraud – Quarterly meetings of the Housing Fraud Group, of which 
Internal Audit is a member, have been programmed to ensure that anti-fraud 
plans remain on track. 
 

• In-Phase Project – The Internal Audit Manager continues to advise on the 
implementation of the new system through the Corporate Governance Group. 
Internal Audit will participate in user group testing in due course 
 

OTHER INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITIES 

NFI data matching 

4. As part of the Cabinet Office 2016-17 National Fraud Initiative data-matching 
exercise, Internal Audit has worked with the responsible Officers across the 
Council to ensure that the Council’s fair processing notices are up-to-date that 
the Council’s data was uploaded on time.  Results of the matches are expected 
to be released in January 2017. 

81



Code of Corporate Governance review  

5. At the request of Internal Audit, the Corporate Governance Group is reviewing 
the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance against the latest CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework for Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (revised 
2016).  This will ensure that the Council is fully compliant in advance of the 
2016/17 Annual Governance Statement, which will be presented to Audit and 
Standards Committee in June 2017.  
 
Review of safes held by the Council 

6. Prompted by the recent Latton Bush Cash Handling audit, Internal Audit is 
assisting Insurance in updating its records to ensure that insurance cover for 
cash held overnight is adequate and up-to-date.  This will contribute towards the 
Council’s overall aim of reducing cash handling to a minimum as part of the new 
Customer Services Action Plan. 
  
External Quality Assessment  

7. The Internal Audit section is currently undergoing an external quality assessment 
(EQA), as required by Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) by 
2017/18.  This has been scheduled early to ensure that any good practice 
suggestions can be actioned before the move to a formal shared service with 
Broxbourne and Epping Forest Councils with effect from 1 April 2017.  The 
review of the Internal Audit Charter, originally scheduled for November 2016, has 
been postponed to take account of any feedback received from the external 
assessor.  

RECOMMENDATION TRACKER 

8. The Audit and Standards Committees receives details of all overdue 
recommendations, plus any fundamental recommendations from final reports, 
regardless of whether they are overdue or not.  This tracker does not feature 
those recommendations made in very recent reports as these are in the process 
of being finalised.   
 

9. The current tracker (see Appendix B) contains 12 recommendations passed their 
due date (compared to 22 in September 2016). 

Recommendation Priority Number (as at 14 
November) 

Fundamental - not yet due 1  
Fundamental - passed due date 0  
Significant - passed due date 8  
Requires Attention - passed due date 4  

 

82



10. The fundamental recommendation relates to counter-fraud arrangements for the 
Right to Buy scheme.  Significant progress continues to be made in this area, as 
monitored through the Housing Fraud Group.  
 

11. The tracker also includes two greyed-out recommendations for information as 
they are now complete, being a second ‘fundamental’ recommendation 
concerning Commercial Rents, and a ‘significant’ recommendation regarding 
Project Management.  

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

12. The table below sets out the performance indicators for 2016/17 as agreed at the 
March 2016 Audit and Standards Committee. 

Aspect of 
Service 

Performance Indicator Target Performance to 
date 

Audit Plan • Achievement of the 
annual Plan 

• 95% 
minimum 

n/a – measured 
annually 

Internal Audit 
processes 

• Issue of draft report 
after closing meeting 

• Issue of final report 
after agreement with 
client to draft 

• 10 working 
days 

• 5 working 
days 

• 100% met 
 

• 100% met 

Effective 
management 
engagement 

• Management 
responses within 10 
working days of draft 
report 

• Implementation of 
agreed audit 
recommendations  

• 10 working 
days 
 
 

• Within 
agreed 
timescales 

• Met for 4 of 6 
final reports 
issued 
 

• Not met – see 
Appendix B 
further details  

Compliance 
with 
professional 
standards 

Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 

Compliant n/a – measured 
annually  

 

INTERNAL AUDIT SHARED SERVICE 

13. The Internal Audit Manager has continued to oversee the delivery of Internal 
Audit services for Epping Forest District Council as well as Broxbourne and 
Harlow Councils with the cost of this post being shared equally.  
 

14. Further progress is being made towards establishing a formal shared service 
between the three Councils, with Broxbourne being the host authority and 
employer of the shared internal audit staff, from 1 April 2017.  A report will be 
presented to the Cabinet at Epping Forest District Council in December 2016, 
after which formal consultation with Epping Forest staff members will begin 

83



before their transfer under TUPE to Broxbourne Council following a formal 
consultation process.  

 
15. The main risk to the other Councils is the loss of control by delegating their 

functions to a host authority.  In order to address this, a Shared Services Board 
will be created comprising the S151 Officers from Broxbourne and Harlow and 
the Monitoring Officer for Epping Forest (as Internal Audit falls under their remit) 
to oversee the implementation and delivery of the function, assess quality and 
performance, manage risks and consider major changes to the service. 

 
16. By the time the Committee next meets in March 2017 this process will be largely 

complete and a further update will be provided. 

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS  

17. With the contract of the current External Auditor, Ernst & Young, due to expire 
after the audit of the 2017/18 financial statements, the Council has expressed an 
interest in Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) appointing the Council’s 
external auditors from 2018/19 onwards.  A separate report in the agenda covers 
this matter in more detail.  

IMPLICATIONS 

Place (includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

Finance (includes ICT) 
It is important that the organisation responds to and implements the 
recommendations flowing from the internal audit process in order to protect and 
improve the overall internal control environment of the Council. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

Community Wellbeing (includes Regeneration, Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

Governance (includes HR) 
Internal Audit provides a key element of assurance within the overall Governance 
framework within the Council and it is important that recommendations flowing from 

84



internal audit recommendations are acted upon and implemented within reasonable 
timescales if reliance on internal controls and procedures is to continue. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

 

Background Papers 

Internal Audit Plan and Internal Audit monitoring reports 

Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 

CMT/HoS – Corporate Management Team/ Heads of Service 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Audit Plan Monitoring 

Appendix B – Audit Recommendations Tracker 

85



Page 1 of 1

Appendix A - Audit Plan Monitoring 2016-17                        
November 2016

Risk Area
Plan 
Days Status Fi

el
dw

or
k 

st
ar

te
d

R
ep

or
t i

ss
ue

d 
to

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t

Fi
na

lis
ed

O
pi

ni
on

: L
ev

el
 o

f 
A

ss
ur

an
ce

Fu
nd

am
en

ta
l /

 H
ig

h

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
/ M

ed
iu

m

R
eq

ui
re

s 
A

tte
nt

io
n/

 
Lo

w

Quarters 1 & 2 
Key Financial Controls - Housing Rents Finance 10 Final report    Substantial 0 1 1
Latton Bush Cash Handling (NEW) Place 3 Final report    Limited 0 2 0
Building Control Out of Hours Service - Follow Up (NEW) Place 4 Final report    n/a - follow up - - -
Officer Interests, Gifts & Hospitality (NEW) Corporate 3 Final report    n/a - memorandum - - -
General Data Protection Regulation (NEW) Corporate 4 Final report    n/a - memorandum - - -
Supported Housing - Access Control (NEW AUDIT at mgt request) Housing 5 Final report    Substantial 0 0 2
Health & Safety - Lone Working Governance 12 Draft report   Moderate 0 3 1
Information Governance & Mgt - External Data Transfers ICT 10 Draft report   Moderate 0 5 3 
Project audit - Enterprise Zone Community Wellbeing 8 Draft report   Substantial 0 2 1

Quarter 3
Housing - External Works & Section 20 Housing 12 In progress 
Housing Health & Safety - Gas Safety Housing 10 In progress 
IT Disaster Recovery Finance 10 In progress 
Key Financial Controls - Council Tax Finance 10 In progress 
Key Financial Controls - Business Rates Finance 10 In progress 
Key Financial Controls - Housing Benefits Finance 10 In progress 
Licensing Place 10 Scoping
Anti-Social Behaviour Corporate 15 Scoping
Key Financial Controls - Payroll Finance 10
Safeguarding Community Wellbeing 10

Quarter 4
Key Financial Controls - Debtors Finance 10 Scoping
Regeneration - Priority Estates Community Wellbeing 12
Information Governance & Management - Data Retention & Disposals Corporate 20 Scoping
Home Ownership & Leaseholders Housing 15
Discretionary Services - Partnerships Governance Community Wellbeing 6 Scoping
Leah Manning Centre Community Wellbeing 10

Totals 15 9 6 0 13 8

Key
cfwd = carried forward
Mgt = Management

Recommendations by 
priority

86



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 1 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

Water 
Gardens Car 
Park 

(November 
2014) 

 

1 On an annual basis 
ensure the Council 
receives an independent 
accountant’s report 
verifying net takings 
payable to the Council. 
This should be 
compared to 
management 
information supplied and 
challenged where there 
is a discrepancy. 
 
Pragmatically the last 
three years (i.e. from 
2011/12) should suffice 
if there are no significant 
discrepancies. 

Significant The new managing 
agents have confirmed 
that income will be 
externally audited as 
part of our procedures. 
This will be going back 
the three years as 
recommended. 
 
 

Properties, 
Facilities & 
Projects 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

28/02/15 31/07/15 
31/10/15 
31/03/16 
30/09/16 
31/03/17 

 

Feb-May15: Working with the 
new management company to 
ensure this is actioned. Request 
has been made. Currently 
carrying out review of in year 
receipts with HDC finance 
officers. 
Aug15: Review of in year receipts 
has taken longer than expected 
due the changes in personnel. 
Nov15-Feb16: Finance review 
now completed with the new 
managing agents. Information 
reporting and net receipts 
protocols have been revised and 
are now dealt with monthly. 3 
years audited accounts expected 
by March 2016. 
Jun16: Audited accounts 
requested again from new 
managing agents.  
Aug16: The Managing Agent is of 
the opinion that it is the Council’s 
responsibility to cover the cost of 
appointing auditors to verify 
income due to the Council and is 
now seeking legal advice. 
Nov16: Awaiting response from 
Managing Agent.  

Overdue 
 
 

Corporate 
Business 
Continuity 
Plan – Follow 
Up 

(May 2015) 

3 & 4 Business Continuity 
Plans (BCPs) to be 
developed for each 
service area and 
reviewed by an 
independent officer to 
ensure that: 

Significant Heads of Service to be 
given a revised deadline 
of 31 May 2013 (via the 
Senior Management 
Team meetings) to 
submit their service level 
BCPs. These can then 

Operations 
Manager/ 
Emergency 
Planning 
Officer/ 
Head of 
Place 

31/08/13 31/08/15 
31/03/16 
31/07/16 
30/09/16 
30/06/17 

May15: BCP template and 
guidance was reissued to 
managers on 16 April 2016. 
Aug15: Managers requiring 
assistance have been advised to 
seek it from the Operations 
Manager upon her return in Sept 

Overdue 

87



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 2 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

• they are appropriate, 
complete and have 
been prepared to a 
consistent standard. 

• there are no 
interdependencies 
that would prevent 
services being 
reinstated in 
accordance with their 
BCPs. 

 

be reviewed for 
completeness/ 
interdependencies and 
services asked to 
strengthen their plans 
where appropriate. 
 

2015. 
Oct15: Heads of Service/Third 
Tier Managers working with 
Operations Manager to update 
service level plans at Team 
meetings to ensure all activities 
are reviewed in context of the 
Services as a whole and 
prioritised accordingly. 
Feb16: Plans exist in draft form 
for all 5 service areas, with some 
Plans still awaiting migration to 
the new template (which takes 
into more detailed account 
interdependencies and reliance 
on key functions such as ICT and 
office space).  
Jun-Aug 16: Awaiting the 
completion of Housing and Place 
BCPs.  
Nov16: Housing is intending to 
set up some workshops for its 
Senior Management Team to 
work through the new corporate 
template with the Operations 
Manager to ensure it is completed 
correctly and covers all areas of 
Housing's business. Unfortunately 
this has been delayed due to the 
corporate priority of mobilising 
HTS. It is proposed to pick this up 
again and arrange the workshops 
for early 2017, once HTS is in 
operation. In the meantime, 
Housing Services Emergency 
Planning arrangements (which 

88



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 3 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

are reviewed and updated 
annually by the Senior Housing 
Management Team) give 
assurance there is a continuity 
plan in an emergency. 

Corporate 
Business 
Continuity 
Plan – Follow 
Up 

(May 2015) 

5 Each service needs to 
develop a timetable to 
test its BCP. This testing 
process needs to be 
managed centrally to 
ensure:  
• Testing is carried out 

as planned 
• Outcomes of the 

testing is recorded 
• Action plans are 

developed to address 
any 
failures/weaknesses 

• BCPs (Service and 
Corporate) are 
reviewed and updated 
as necessary post 
testing, and 
periodically thereafter.  

 

Significant A methodology for 
testing the BCPs will be 
determined by 31 March 
2014 and a timetable 
developed to test each 
plan during April – June 
2014. 

Operations 
Manager/ 
Property and 
Facilities 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

31/03/14 01/11/15 
30/04/16 
31/07/16 
31/03/17 

 

May15: Some testing of Council 
systems has been carried out as 
part of Emergency Planning (e.g. 
emergency power supplies at the 
Civic Centre, comprehensive ICT 
testing at Latton Bush and mutual 
aid support with other Essex 
districts). 
Aug15-Jun16: Whilst service 
level plans are being completed 
testing cannot take place (see rec 
4), however joint working with 
Chelmsford CC around ICT 
recovery will see some testing in 
this area in 2016. . 
Aug16-Nov16: Joint working with 
Chelmsford CC around ICT has 
stalled and ICT will explore 
working with another Council. 
Awaiting update from Chelmsford 
CC for more information. The 
implementation date is revised to 
the end of the financial year so 
that Harlow Council can explore 
other arrangements. It is now 
anticipated that testing of other 
plans can take place before the 
Housing Services BCP is 
received. 

Overdue 

Community 2a The Safer Harlow 
Partnership needs to 

Significant Will review and update 
documentation. 

Community 
Safety Team 

30/09/15 31/01/16 
30/06/16 

Oct15-Feb16: A full SHP or RAG 
meeting is needed prior to final 

Overdue 

89



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 4 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

Safety 

(June 2015) 

locate, review and 
update and overall 
governance document 
that sets out statutory 
roles, stakeholders, 
frequency of meeting, 
voting arrangements 
and other Partnership 
governance and 
administrative 
arrangements.   

Manager/ 
Head of 
Community 
Wellbeing 

31/10/16 
31/03/17 

agreement.  
Jun-Nov16: The SHP 
Coordinator post was made 
redundant in March 2016, due to 
a reduction in funding, and 
remaining staff resources have 
had to be prioritised on other 
activities. As agreed with Internal 
Audit, this document will now be 
in place by the end of the financial 
year.  

Community 
Partnerships  

(August 2015) 

2 The Council’s current 
(dormant) partnerships 
policy to be developed 
into a toolkit which 
would be of practical 
user to managers 
involved in partnerships, 
to include: 
• A checklist of practical 

steps for manager to 
follow 

• Example templates to 
help embed good 
governance and risk 
management 
practices (as 
recommended in 
2011). 

A programme of 
awareness-raising 
should follow.  

Significant A partnerships protocol 
will be developed as 
recommended, in 
conjunction with the 
Partnerships Lead at 
Broxbourne Council, by 
the end of the current 
financial year. 
We will raise awareness 
of the new protocol 
through the Infonet, the 
Weekly Information 
Sheet and Third Tier 
Managers meetings, 
beginning in April 2016, 
and offer Community 
Wellbeing as a point of 
contact for advice and 
guidance. 
 

Head of 
Community 
Wellbeing 

31/05/16 31/03/17 Jun-Nov16: As discussed with 
Internal Audit, in view of the 
recent tragic incident in the Town 
Park, and the health and safety 
audit that is to be commissioned, 
it is considered better to await the 
outcome of this and the audit of 
discretionary services to take 
place later in the year so that the 
protocol can encompass findings 
and recommendations from both 
of these. 
 

Overdue 

Project 
Management  

(August 2015) 

1.1 Policy & Performance to 
take responsibility for 
ensuring a robust 
project management 

Significant The Policy & 
Performance team will 
take responsibility for 
producing a project 

Head of 
Governance 

31/03/16 
 

30/09/16 
31/12/16 

Jun16: Discussions are on-going 
to determine where project 
management best fits within HDC. 
Aug16: Agreed at Corporate 

Complete 

90



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 5 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

framework, especially 
for those projects that 
fall outside the remit of 
the IT Operations Board 
and capital bid process. 

management framework 
once the staffing 
changes to the team 
have been finalised 

Governance Group on 9 Aug that 
the Head of Governance will chair 
a discussion with the Internal 
Audit Manager, the Procurement 
& Relationship Manager and the 
Policy & Performance team leader 
to determine the way forward. 
Nov16: Project management is 
being built into the new InPhase 
system. Heads of Service will 
retain ownership of their projects 
with Policy and Performance 
reporting progress in line with the 
service planning process.   

Business 
Planning 

(September 
2015) 

3,4 & 
5  

As part of the service 
planning database 
project, Service Plans 
should be enhanced 
by:-  
• Improving the level of 

financial detail to    
include: meeting 
financial targets; 
mitigating potential 
service income 
shortfall/overspend, 
especially on demand 
led services; 
delivering planned 
savings in year; and 
planning for 
subsequent years’ 
savings delivery. 

• Developing 
arrangements to 
embed risk 

Significant  It should be possible to 
link the budget proposals 
for the forthcoming year 
to the business plan 
process placing an 
expectation on budget 
holders and those 
completing the service 
plans to consider the 
financial impacts of the 
budget decisions etc. 
The InPhase project will 
will manage service 
based risk management 
and reporting in to the 
system. 
Detailed guidance is 
already available on 
Infonet, however given 
the project currently 
underway to replace the 

Performance 
Team  
Leader (or 
designate) 

31/03/16 30/09/16 
31/03/17 

Jun16: InPhase development and 
implementation is running behind 
schedule due to resourcing 
issues. The Service Planning and 
Risk Management elements of 
Inphase are nearly ready for user 
testing. Corporate Risks are on 
the system and regularly updated 
to enable reporting for JFPR. 
Service Risks should be added 
once InPhase is operational 
(expected Q2). 
Once agreed by Governance 
Group/HoS and users, the new 
ways of working for Service 
Planning/ Risk/ Performance 
Monitoring/ JFPR reporting will be 
documented along with the 
revised Performance 
Management Framework. 
Aug16: Service user test group 
identified. Meetings being 

Overdue  

91



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 6 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

management in 
Service Plans.  

• Reviewing the role of 
Heads of Service and 
Policy & Performance 
in  reviewing and 
updating Service 
Plans.  

• Developing detailed 
procedural guidance 
to go on the intranet 
on how Service Plans 
should be developed 
and approved. 

 

SPD it may need 
updating once 
procedures are defined 
and operational. The 
information will be re-
designated as a policy 
framework rather than 
“guidance” and launched 
to correspond with the 
new service planning 
tool. 

arranged to take user group 
through system and proposed 
with HoS to enable existing 
Service objectives/ actions/ 
milestones within SPD to be 
transferred to InPhase, which will 
allow 1Q16 RAG status updates. 
Onus on Services is to reflect 
financial impacts within that 
structure. 
Corporate Risks are ready in new 
agreed format. Service Risks will 
require creation along with 
Service plan objectives during 
user tester/HoS discussions. 
As discussed at the Risk Group 
on 1 Aug 2016, performance 
framework update to lie with 
Governance/ P&P (including 
Service Planning framework and 
guidance to be launched with 
InPhase). 
Nov16: Service Plans 
(objectives/actions/milestones) 
were transferred to InPhase 
August 2016 to enable 1Q16 
JFPR production. For 2Q16, P&P 
are liaising with Services/HOS to 
show how to update milestones 
RAG indicators within InPhase. 
Service risks are still to be 
reviewed in line with new risk 
layout and input (as agreed and 
already implemented for 
Corporate Risks in 2015). 
 

92



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 7 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

Business 
Planning 

(September 
2015) 

1 The 2016/17 annual 
objectives to be 
developed as SMART 
(specific, measurable, 
achievable realistic and 
time bound) objectives. 

Requires 
Attention 

When the InPhase 
project is complete the 
objectives will be 
connected to the KPIs 
and will be measurable. 
They will also be a 
compulsory part of the 
service planning 
process. 

Heads of 
Service and 
Third Tier 
Managers 

31/03/16 30/09/16 
31/03/17 

Jun16: Within the InPhase 
application Service Objectives 
and Actions can be given 
start/due/end dates with RAG 
status and distinct owners. 
Progress milestones can also be 
set and measured against.  
KPIs have been input into 
InPhase, periodically updated, 
and linked to both Services and 
Corporate Priorities to enable 
reporting against either, as 
required.  
InPhase also provides for 
performance comments 
(good/bad) and Improvement 
Action Plan comments, enabling  
automatic feed to quarterly JFPRs 
and other reports as required. 
Aug16: As above re: user group 
meetings. P&P are due to take 
Services through target and 
tolerance setting process for 
performance indicators but 
framework ready on InPhase and 
populated with prior year data. 
Nov16: Service Plans 
(objectives/actions/milestones) 
were transferred to InPhase 
August 2016 to enable 1Q16 
JFPR production.  As InPhase is 
rolled out to Services, it will be 
their responsibility to develop their 
Service plans to comply with the 
recommendation. 
 

Overdue 

93



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 8 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

Human 
Resources-
Recruitment 

(September 
2015) 

1 Ensure compliance with 
Contract Standing 
Orders as required by 
the Council with regards 
to advertising services, 
and that a contract in 
place with service 
providers. 

Significant Agreed. HR Manager to 
put together 
procurement exercise. 

HR Manager 
/Head of 
Governance 

31/03/16 31/12/16 Jun-Nov16:  Working in 
partnership with VineHR to 
establish a framework in line with 
the CSO.  A preferred suppliers 
list (PSL) agreed.  HR liaising with 
the PSL.  

Overdue 

Human 
Resources - 
Recruitment 

(September 
2015) 

2 Recruitment training 
should be provided to 
recruiting managers and 
evidenced. 

Requires 
Attention 

Agreed. Online training 
programme to be 
created on Wisenet and 
sent out to new 
managers with recruiting 
responsibilities. 
Certificate will be issued 
at the end of the course 
and a copy will be 
placed in individual files. 

HR Manager 
/Head of 
Governance 

31/03/16 31/12/16 Jun-Nov16: Due to staff 
shortages meeting has been 
postponed until Sept 16 to 
discuss and prepare online 
training programme via 
Wisenet.  Estimate completion 
date Dec 16. Existing Wisenet 
training course ‘Preventing illegal 
Working’ will also be reviewed. In 
the meantime, the HR Advisor 
meets, on an ongoing basis, with 
recruiting managers to give one to 
one advice and guidance on the 
recruitment process. 

Overdue 

Commercial 
Rents  

(October 
2015) 

2 The spreadsheet 
currently used to 
manage the inventory of 
commercial properties 
should be removed at 
the earliest opportunity 
once data has been 
adequately transferred 
to Technology Forge 
(TF) to limit the risk of 
loss or corruption of 
data through error. In 
the interim the file 
should be password 

Fundament
al 

Historically, the Property 
Manager has periodically 
backed up the 
spreadsheet to ensure 
that data is not lost in the 
event that the 
spreadsheet is 
corrupted. The Property 
Manager has now also 
password protected the 
spreadsheet 
The spreadsheet is held 
on a central system and 

Property 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

31/03/16  31/12/16 Oct15: The spreadsheet is now 
password protected. It is 
envisaged that the spreadsheet 
will be removed upon completion 
of the TF data cleansing 
exercise.   
Feb16: Significant development 
work has been undertaken with 
the suppliers regarding TF and its 
functionality. This work includes 
data cleansing. This has 
highlighted limitations with TF, 
therefore, the spreadsheet will 
need to be maintained until these 

Complete 
 

94



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 9 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

protected as read only. 
Segregation of duties 
issues also arise with 
the Property Manager 
authorising transactions 
as well as maintaining 
them on the 
spreadsheet. 

backup daily by IT server 
system. 
The cleansing of the 
data is to be completed 
by March 2016 when TF 
will be fully functioning 
for all staff in P&FM. 

issues are resolved.  
Jun-Aug16: Significant resources 
have spent cleansing and bringing 
up to date the Property Register. 
The leaseholder side (Estate 
Management module) of 
Technology Forge has taken a 
back seat whilst a 5 year 
valuations programme via a new 
contract is instigated. 
Nov16: Agreement has been 
reached with Internal Audit to 
continue using the spreadsheet 
for operational reasons. 
Compensating controls are in 
place through the security 
measures for the spreadsheet 
and on-going TF data cleansing 
exercise.  

Commercial 
Rents  

(October 
2015) 

14 Document all tenants 
rent files with a template 
showing the processes, 
controls, decisions and 
documentation for rent 
reviews. 

Significant In line with 
recommendation 3 
Latton Bush Staff will be 
trained by the end of 
Sept 15.  
Following this training 
the team will work to 
transfer all tenant data 
onto the TF system. 

Latton Bush 
Service 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

29/02/16 30/09/16 
31/12/16 

Feb16: Training has been booked 
for 25/2/16 and the Council is 
looking to purchase an addition 
module for TF for bookings, which 
will require data being uploaded 
into it which will be resource 
intensive.  
Jun-Aug16: The meeting in Feb 
16 took place with Technology 
Forge who presented a Cloud 
base system which was rejected 
by IT. There is still a requirement 
to train staff so they can input 
onto the TF system.  
Nov16: The Property Register 
has been updated for individual 
office suites and business units. 

Overdue 

95



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 10 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

Leaseholder information will need 
inputting which will be resource 
intensive.  

Commercial 
Rents  

(October 
2015) 

1 Policies and procedures 
for the setting, charging 
and collection of 
commercial rents to be 
developed in order to 
ensure that officer 
responsibilities, 
expected internal 
controls, and 
appropriate sign off as 
evidence of review, are 
clearly documented (to 
enable proper oversight 
and reduce the risk of 
loss to the Council). 

Requires 
Attention 

A policy document will 
be drafted by end of 
March 16 and distributed 
to the relevant service 
areas and staff. 
 
The timeline is resource 
dependant. 

Facilities 
Manager/ 
Property 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

31/03/16 31/12/16 
31/03/17 

Jun-Aug16: Currently on hold 
due to lack of resources whilst 
setting up Harlow Trading 
Services (HTS). 
Nov16: Work on this has 
commenced, for example new 
leaseholders checklist has been 
introduced and is being followed.  

Overdue 

Energy 
Management  

(Nov 2015) 

3 & 
GP1 

To ensure resilience: 
• Ensure written 

procedures cover the 
full range of processes 
(from energy data 
capture to publishing 
C02 emissions) 

• Ensure that a deputy is 
designated who is also 
familiar with the 
process 

• Document and 
implement additional 
steps to ensure the 
integrity of 
spreadsheet data, 
including validation 
(e.g. number range), 

Requires 
Attention  

Procedures already in 
place will be enhanced 
to provide more detail as 
to where each data 
source can be located 
and how it should be 
entered into the 
spreadsheet tool. This 
will include checking of 
sums and using version 
control instead of master 
documents. 
Consideration of 
designating a deputy for 
the process will be 
based on time and 
financial resources, but 
the existence of more 

Operations 
Manager/ 
Head of 
Place 

31/07/16 31/12/16 May16: In progress and to be 
discussed further with HoS and 
the Operations Manager. 
Aug16: Energy management 
processes have been discussed 
in detail between the Operations 
Manager and the Projects 
Manager (HTS). This year’s data 
has been produced by the 
Operations Manager and 
validated by the Projects Manager 
(HTS); therefore two managers 
now have a detailed knowledge of 
the process.  
Nov16: Time has been scheduled 
in November to detail all 
processes in capturing emissions 
data, devise a flow chart and 

Overdue 

96



Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker (Overdue and Fundamentals)  Appendix B 
Last Updated: 14 November 2016 

Page 11 of 11 
 

Audit 
Year  
(Date report 
issued) 

Rec 
Ref 

Original 
Recommendation 

Priority Original Managers 
Response 

Responsible 
Officer/  
Head of 
Service 

Agreed 
Imp 
Date 

Revised 
Imp 

Date(s) 

Status Update from Management Status 

check sums and 
adopting version 
control rather than 
saving a master copy 
each time. 

detailed procedures may 
negate the need for this 
in any case. 

produce a how to guide.  
On track for completion by end 
December.  

Right To Buy 

(March 2016) 

1 Counter fraud 
measures/ processes 
should be strengthened 
within the Home 
Ownership Team.  
 

Fundament
al 

We will consider the 
longer term options. 
Enhanced procedures to 
be established by, for 
example, recruiting a 
new specialist Tenancy 
Enforcement officer 
located in the Housing 
Management Team with 
the necessary 
experience. 
 

Head of 
Housing 

31/12/16  Jun-Aug16: Internal processes 
have been strengthened, 
including Officers visiting all Right 
to Buy applicants with a revised 
RTB application form to reduce 
the risk of fraud. Fraud training 
from the Corporate Fraud Team 
at Epping Forest is being provided 
to Officers free of charge as well 
as advice regarding the new 
specialist post of Housing Fraud 
Officer. 
Nov16: New internal processes 
now in operation and working 
well.  Fraud training has now 
taken place with all Housing 
Officers, Team Leaders and 
Managers.  Recruitment for a 
Fraud Officer within Housing 
Management is due to commence 
in January 17 to commence from 
April 17, this will include the 
creation of a new JD and job 
evaluation process. 

In 
progress 

 

97



REPORT TO: AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

DATE: 23 NOVEMBER 2016 

TITLE: ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY  

LEAD OFFICER: 

 

SARAH MARSH, INTERNAL AUDIT MANAGER 
(01279) 446884 

 

RECOMMENDED that: 

A the Committee approves the Council’s revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy.  

PURPOSE 

1. It is important that the Council’s approach to fraud is regularly reviewed and that 
fraud related policies and procedures remain relevant and up to date. The 
current Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, which was last updated in 
September 2011, has been reviewed by both the Corporate Governance Group 
and CMT/HoS and is presented here for approval by the Audit and Standards 
Committee.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2. The revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy (Appendix A) brings together a 
number of fraud related documents including the Council’s Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy and Procedure and the Fraud Response Plan and has been 
updated to ensure it remains in line with sector good practice and current 
legislation. In particular, the Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedure has 
been enhanced following training attended by the Internal Audit Manager in 
September 2016. 
 

3. The fundamental messages contained within the strategy are that the Council 
will:  

• Maintain a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption 

• Ensure staff and Members demonstrate the highest standards of honesty and 
integrity at all times 

• Commit to an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy that covers the best practice 
principles of acknowledging and understanding fraud risks, preventing and 
deterring fraud and being stronger in pursuing fraud. 

• Work in partnership both locally and nationally to tackle fraud and corruption.  

4. Through the Corporate Governance Group the Council will develop and 
implement a Fraud Action Plan, which will be a separate and dynamic document 

98

Agenda Item 12



supporting the Strategy through identifying specific actions which can be 
implemented and monitored. 

BACKGROUND 

5. The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy is an integral part of the Council’s 
overall governance framework. It is designed to encourage prevention and 
promote detection of both fraud and corruption against the Council. The strategy 
sets out the expectation that Members, employees, individuals and organisations 
will be honest and fair in any dealings they may have with the Council. 
 

6. The strategy was reviewed and updated taking into account the good practice 
set out in the 2016-19 Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy, being a national strategy aimed at those charged with governance in 
local authorities. It sets out the approach local authorities should take and the 
main areas of focus over the next three years in order to transform counter fraud 
and corruption performance, and contains major recommendations for local 
authorities and other stakeholders. It supersedes the last Fighting Fraud Locally 
Strategy which was published in 2011.   
 

7. It is management’s responsibility to take actions to mitigate fraud risks through 
expecting high standards of conduct and operating strong systems of internal 
control. Any loss through fraud and other irregularity is a drain on resources 
which, in turn, reduces the amounts available for service delivery and to support 
those in genuine need. It is equally important that those working for and with the 
Council have a clear understanding of the Council’s standards and expectations 
through effective communication and monitoring.  

Ongoing review of the Council’s Anti-Fraud Strategy and counter fraud resource 

8. The Council will need to keep under continuous review the threats from fraud 
and to ensure it allocates resources to the highest identified areas of existing 
and emerging risks. There is always scope to continually improve in being 
responsive and adaptive to emerging risks and pressures. The Council needs to 
continue to monitor its mechanisms for assessing the risk of fraud and having 
the means to share information and quantify the outcome whenever fraud 
occurs. 
 

9. The Audit and Standards Committee has a key role in assessing whether the 
Council’s framework for responding to the risk of fraud and corruption meets 
recommended practice and governance standards and complies with legislation. 
To fulfil this role the Committee has started to receive updates regarding fraud 
work within the Council, both reactive and proactive. 

 
10. Once approved by the Audit and Standards Committee, the revised strategy will 

be published on the Council’s internet and its message relayed to all staff via the 
staff newsletter WIS.  

99



11. Training will be provided as appropriate though the Fraud Action Plan so that 
awareness of roles and responsibilities is further cascaded to all staff.  

SUMMARY 

12. The occurrence of fraud may expose the Council to financial loss and the 
substantive risks associated with an inadequate control framework.  This 
strategy is vital to promoting a Council-wide awareness of anti-fraud and 
corruption activities and responsibilities.  It will assist the Council with managing 
the risk of fraud and ensure a consistent response in the event of fraud being 
suspected.   

IMPLICATIONS 

Place (includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 

Finance (includes ICT) 
An occurrence of fraud could expose the Council to financial loss and the 
substantive risks associated with an inadequate control framework.  This strategy is 
vital to promoting a Council-wide awareness of anti-fraud and corruption activities 
and responsibilities.  It will assist the Council with managing the risk of fraud and 
ensure a consistent response in the event of fraud being suspected.   
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  

Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

Community Wellbeing (includes Regeneration, Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 

Governance (includes HR) 
This review ensures that the Council takes account of best practice as set out in the 
2016-19 Local Government Council Fraud and Corruption Strategy. The Council’s 
revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy also includes its Anti-Bribery Policy and 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedure. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

2016-19 Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy  

Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 

CMT/HoS – Corporate Management Team/ Heads of Service  

100



HARLOW DISTRICT COUNCIL ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY 
 

1. Purpose of the strategy 

Theft, fraud, corruption and bribery are criminal offences. Harlow Council is 
committed to the highest standards of integrity, and will not tolerate them in any 
form. The Council’s principle is zero tolerance towards offences and offenders.  

The purpose of this Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy is to support the Council’s 
2016-19 Corporate Plan by protecting the public purse as every pound lost through 
fraud cannot be spent on services. In particular, this Strategy: 
 

• Sets out the aims and long term vision of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption framework 

• Outlines the Council’s approach to Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
• Outlines the expected outcomes along with how the Council intends to 

achieve and monitor these  
 

2. Key Objectives 

The key objectives of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption framework are to: 
• protect the Council’s resources and assets, ensuring they are used as 

intended; 
• maintain a culture where fraud or corruption is not tolerated; and  
• ensure staff and Members demonstrate the highest standards of honesty and 

integrity at all times. 
 

This strategy also supports the national 2016-19 Fighting Fraud and Corruption 
Locally Strategy which advocates turning strategy into action by Councils 
considering their counter fraud response and performance against each of the six ‘C’ 
themes: 

• Culture – creating a culture in which beating fraud and corruption is part of 
daily business 

• Capability  - ensuring a range of anti-fraud measures deployed is appropriate 
to the range of fraud risks 

• Capacity – deploying the right level of resources to deal with the level of fraud 
risk 

• Competence – having the right skills and standards 
• Communications – raising awareness, deterring fraudsters, sharing 

information and celebrating successes 
• Collaboration – working together across internal and external boundaries, 

with colleagues, with other local authorities, and with other agencies, sharing 
resources, skills and learning, good practice, innovation and information.   

101

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/503657/Fighting_fraud_and_corruption_locally_strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/503657/Fighting_fraud_and_corruption_locally_strategy.pdf


3. Definitions 

In law, fraud is deliberate deception to secure unfair or unlawful gain, or to deprive a 
victim of a legal right. The purpose of fraud may be monetary gain or other benefits, 
such as obtaining a home or a job with the Council by way of false statement 
 
Corruption is a form of dishonest or unethical conduct by a person entrusted with a 
position of authority, often to acquire personal benefit. Corruption may include many 
activities including bribery. 
 
4. Strategic response 

The principles of the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption strategy are acknowledge, 
prevent and pursue. 

Acknowledge Prevent Pursue 

Acknowledge and 
understanding fraud risks 

Preventing and detecting 
more fraud 

Being stronger in 
punishing fraud/recovering 

losses 

Assessing and 
understanding fraud risks 

 
 

Committing support and 
resources to tackling fraud 

 
 

Maintaining a robust anti-
fraud response 

Making better use of 
information and 

technology 
 

Enhancing fraud controls 
and processes 

 
 

Developing a more 
effective anti-fraud culture 

 

Prioritising fraud recovery 
and the use of civil 

sanctions 
 

Developing capability and 
capacity to punish 

fraudsters 
 

Collaborating with law 
enforcement 

Some specific examples for Harlow District Council 
• Risk management 

process 
• Fraud proofing policy 

and processes 
• Fraud awareness 

• Whistleblowing policy 
• Strong internal control 

culture 
• Staff and supplier 

vetting 
• Participation in the 

National Fraud Initiative 
and the pan-Essex 
council tax matching 
campaign 

• Staff and Member Code 
of Conduct and 
Declarations of Interest 

• Information security and 
IT policies 

• Fraud response plan 
• Appointment of housing 

fraud officer 
• Enforcement powers 

and application of 
sanctions 

• Collaboration with other 
authority fraud teams 

 

102

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Law
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Intent_(law)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Deception
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dishonest
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bribery


5. Key Fraud Risks  

It is important that the Council recognises and actively manages its risks relating to 
fraud and corruption, using its Risk Management Strategy and Toolkit in helping to 
achieve this. Fraud and corruption risks are routinely considered as part of the 
Council’s strategic risk management arrangements using both pro-active and 
reactive components. 
 
The key fraud risk areas for councils have been identified in the 2016-19 Local 
Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy and those relevant to Harlow 
District Council are listed below:   

• Tenancy: Fraudulent applications for housing or succession of tenancy, 
subletting of the property and Right To Buy fraud 

• Procurement: Tendering issues, split contracts, double invoicing 
• Payroll: False employees, overtime claims, expenses 
• Council Tax: Discounts and exemptions, council tax support 
• Grants: Work not carried out, funds diverted, ineligibility not declared 
• Internal Fraud: Diverting council monies to a personal account, accepting 

bribes, stealing cash, misallocating social housing for personal gain, working 
elsewhere while claiming to be off sick, wrongfully claiming benefit while 
working, abuse of position such as misuse of assets/resources 

• Identity Fraud: False identity/fictitious persons applying for services/payments 
• Business Rates: Fraudulent applications for exemptions and reliefs, unlisted 

properties 
• Money Laundering: Exposure to suspect transactions 
• Insurance Fraud: False claims including slips and trips 
• Disabled Facility Grants: Fraudulent applications for adaptions to homes 

aimed at the disabled 
• No Resource to Public Funds: Fraudulent claim of eligibility 
• Local Enterprise Partnerships: Voluntary partnership between local authorities 

and business, procurement fraud and grant fraud 
• Cyber Dependent Crime and Cyber Enabled Fraud: Enables a range of fraud 

types resulting in for example diversion of funds, creation of false applications 
for services and payments 
 

6. Approach 

The prevention and detection of fraud and corruption and the protection of the public 
purse is everyone’s responsibility. The key components in achieving this are: 
 
Proactive 

• Strengthening the anti-fraud culture to increase resilience to fraud 

103



• Preventing fraud through the implementation of appropriate and robust 
internal controls and cyber security measures 

• Increasing fraud awareness of Council officers and Members 
• Deterring fraud attempts by publicising the actions the organisation takes 

against fraudsters 

Reactive 
• Detecting fraud through data and intelligence analysis 
• Implementing effective whistleblowing arrangements 
• Investigating fraud referrals 
• Applying sanctions, both civil and criminal 
• Seeking redress, including the recovery of assets and money 

 
The table below lists the suggested approach expected outcomes against each of 
the three principles of the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, which will be 
supported by a rolling action plan. 
 

Principle Approach Expected Outcome 
Acknowledging and 
understanding fraud 
risks 

Strengthen the risk 
management process to assess 
current and future fraud and 
corruption risks 
 
Need for cultural change and 
increase in fraud and corruption 
awareness both internally and 
outside of the Council 
 
Annual fraud report through 
central collection of fraud data 
 
Improved sharing of fraud 
threats, information and 
intelligence both internally and 
externally 

Increased reporting of 
cases 
 
Increased awareness of 
anti-fraud process and 
procedures throughout the 
organisation 

Preventing and 
detecting more fraud 

Fraud proofing of policy and 
processes 
 
Better use of data and 
technology to prevent and 
detect fraud 
 
Assessment of the Council’s 
internal controls framework to 
ensure it remains robust 

Increased levels of anti-
fraud awareness 
 
When fraud or corruption 
has occurred because of a 
breakdown in the Council's 
systems or procedures, 
the Section 151 Officer will 
ensure that appropriate 
improvements in systems 

104



 
Supporting anti-fraud policies 
and procedures including 
whistleblowing and money 
laundering 

of control are implemented 
to prevent a recurrence. 
 
Any significant control 
issues are reported in the 
Annual Governance 
Statement along with 
actions taken to address 
the issue. 

Be stronger in 
punishing  
fraud/ recovering 
losses 

Capacity and capability to 
investigate and prosecute fraud 
 
Consistent and effective 
response for dealing with fraud 
cases 

Successful use of 
sanctions and/or 
prosecution 
 
Recovery of fraud losses 
increased 

 
 
7. Responsibility for implementing this strategy 

 

Responsibility Role 
Chief Executive Ultimately responsible for preventing and detecting 

theft, fraud and corruption and promoting an anti-fraud 
culture. 

Members As elected representatives, all members of the 
Council have a duty to the public to maintain the 
highest standards of conduct and ethics, and to 
ensure the Council is open and transparent in all the 
decisions it makes. Members are required to adhere 
to the Council’s constitution, which incorporates a 
Member Code of Conduct. 

Audit and Standards 
Committee 

Monitoring Council policies on whistle blowing, for 
contraventions of financial and other procedures or 
fraud-related situations, Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy and complaints. 
Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct 
by Councillors and co-opted persons of Committees. 
Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct. 

Corporate Governance 
Group, led by the Section 
151 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer 

Developing, reviewing and maintaining an anti-fraud 
and corruption framework. 

Corporate Management 
Team/Heads of Service 

Ensuring all staff follow this strategy and any related 
policies and procedures, supported by the Council’s 
Internal Audit and Human Resources functions.  

Section 151 Officer Has a statutory responsibility under the Local 
Government Act 1972 for the proper administration of 

105



the Council's financial affairs. Where irregularities, 
fraud or corruption are suspected the S151 Officer 
should be informed. On being informed of an alleged 
irregularity, fraud or corruption the S151 Officer will 
determine the arrangements for investigating the 
matter in line with the Council’s Fraud Response Plan. 

Monitoring Officer Under the Local Government Act 1972 has the 
specific duty to ensure that the Council, its Officers, 
and its Elected Councillors, maintain the highest 
standards of conduct in all they do. They also advise 
the Council on the legality of their decisions.  

Directors and managers 
(all levels) 

Responsible for preventing and detecting fraud and 
ensuring they operate effective mechanisms in their 
area of control to: 
• Prevent theft, fraud and corruption thereby 

safeguarding the Council’s assets and interests 
• Promote employee awareness  
• Assess the risk of fraud and take appropriate action 
• Take prompt action in line with the Fraud 

Response Plan where they suspect or are alerted 
to possible theft, fraud or corruption 

All staff All staff have a responsibility to prevent, detect and 
report on fraud or suspected fraud 

Partners and Contractors Required to comply with the Council’s policies and 
procedures when undertaking work for and jointly with 
the Council 

External Audit Under the International Standard on Auditing 240, 
when conducting an audit External Audit are 
responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that 
the financial statement s taken as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. 

Internal Audit Providing assurance on the effectiveness of systems 
and procedures to prevent and detect fraud and 
corruption (by undertaking audits).  
Supporting managers in minimising fraud and 
corruption related risk and are alert in all their work to 
risks and exposures that could allow fraud and 
corruption to take place. 

 

8. Supporting policies, procedures and processes 

The Council has a range of policies, procedures and processes in place to formalise 
arrangements for the prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. These include: 

• Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy (this document) 

106



• Whistleblowing Policy (located on the Council’s Infonet ) 
• Anti-Bribery Policy Statement (Appendix 1 of this document) 
• Fraud Response Plan (Appendix 2 of this document) 
• Prevention of Money Laundering procedures (located on the Council’s 

Infonet) 
• Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedure (Appendix 3 of this document) 
• Employee and Member Codes of Conduct (located on the Council’s Infonet 

and published as part of the Constitution) 
• Financial Regulations (located on the Council’s intranet and published as part 

of the Constitution) 
• Contract Standing Orders (located on the Council’s Infonet and published as 

part of the Constitution) 
 

9. Policy reporting, review and monitoring performance 

This policy can only be varied with the collective agreement of the Chief Executive, 
the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer.  
 
The Head of Finance, as Section 151 Officer, will develop a rolling anti-fraud action 
plan to support the strategy, in conjunction with the Head of Internal Audit and senior 
managers.  
 
It will be the responsibility of the Corporate Management Team (CMT), via the 
Corporate Governance Group, to ensure there are adequate resources to support 
the action plan. 
 
The Audit and Standards Committee will receive regular fraud updates from the 
Section 151 Officer to assist in their oversight of the Council’s anti-fraud and 
corruption strategy and arrangements. 
 
The expected outcomes from this strategy are detailed in the table in section 6 
(Approach). Reporting on performance will be made to the CMT and the Audit and 
Standards Committee on an annual basis. 
  

107



Appendix 1  

ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY STATEMENT 
 
Bribery is a criminal offence. Harlow District Council does not, and will not, pay 
bribes or offer improper inducements to anyone for any purpose, nor does it or will it, 
accept bribes or improper inducements. To use a third party as a conduit to channel 
bribes to others is also a criminal offence. 
 
Harlow District Council is committed to the prevention, deterrence and detection of 
bribery and has zero tolerance towards bribery. The Council aims to maintain anti-
bribery compliance “business as usual”, rather than as a one-off exercise. 
 
Bribery 
 
Bribery is defined as an inducement or reward offered, promised or provided to gain 
personal, commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage. It is unacceptable to: 

• give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality with the 
expectation or hope that a business advantage will be received, or to reward a 
business advantage already given 

• give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality to a government 
official, agent or representative to "facilitate" or expedite a routine procedure 

• accept payment from a third party that you know or suspect is offered with the 
expectation that it will obtain a business advantage for them 

• accept a gift or hospitality from a third party if you know or suspect that it is 
offered or provided with an expectation that a business advantage will be 
provided by the Council in return 

• retaliate against or threaten a person who has refused to commit a bribery 
offence or who has raised concerns under this policy 

• engage in activity in breach of this policy. 
 
Objective of this policy 
 
This policy provides a coherent and consistent framework to enable Officers to 
understand and implement arrangements enabling compliance. In conjunction with 
related policies and key documents it will also enable employees to identify and 
effectively report a potential breach. The Council requires that all staff, including 
those permanently employed, temporary agency staff and contractors: 

• act honestly and with integrity at all times and to safeguard the Council’s 
resources for which they are responsible 

• comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the laws and regulations of all 
jurisdictions in which the Council operates, in respect of the lawful and 
responsible conduct of activities. 

 
  

108



Scope of this policy 
 
This policy applies to all of the Council’s activities. For partners, joint ventures and 
suppliers, we will seek to promote the adoption of policies consistent with the 
principles set out in this policy. 
 
Within the Council, the responsibility to control the risk of bribery occurring resides at 
all levels of the Council. It does not rest solely within assurance functions, but in all 
service areas. 
 
This policy covers all staff, including all levels and grades, those permanently 
employed, temporary agency staff, contractors, agents, Members (including 
independent members), volunteers and consultants. 
 
The Council’s commitment to action 
 
The Council commits to: 

• Setting out a clear anti-bribery policy and keeping it up to date 
• Making all employees aware of their responsibilities to adhere strictly to this 

policy at all times 
• Training all employees so that they can recognise and avoid the use of bribery 

by themselves and others 
• Encouraging its employees to be vigilant and to report any suspicions of 

bribery, providing them with suitable channels of communication and ensuring 
sensitive information is treated appropriately 

• Rigorously investigating instances of alleged bribery and assisting police and 
other appropriate authorities in any resultant prosecution 

• Taking firm and vigorous action against any individual(s) involved in bribery 
• Provide information to all employees to report breaches and suspected 

breaches of this policy 
• Include appropriate clauses in contracts to prevent bribery. 

 
Gifts and hospitality 
 
This policy is not meant to change the requirements of the Council’s gifts and 
hospitality policy (included in the Officer Code of Conduct). This makes it clear that 
sample tokens of modest value bearing the name or insignia of the organisation 
giving them (for example, pens, diaries or calendars) whether given personally, or 
received in the post, may be retained unless they could be regarded as an 
inducement or reward. You should refuse the offer or invitation (or return the gift) 
unless your Head of Service has advised you that it may be accepted or retained. 
 
Staff responsibilities 
 
The prevention, detection and reporting of bribery and other forms of corruption are 
the responsibility of all those working for the Council or under its control. All staff are 
required to avoid activity that breaches this policy. Staff must: 

109



• ensure that they read, understand and comply with this policy 
• raise concerns as soon as possible as they believe or suspect that a conflict 

with this policy has occurred, or may occur in the future. 

As well as the possibility of civil and criminal prosecution, staff that breach this policy 
will face disciplinary action, which could result in summary dismissal for gross 
misconduct. 
 
Raising a concern 
 
This Council is committed to ensuring that all of its officers have a safe, reliable, and 
confidential way of reporting any suspicious activity. Officers have a responsibility to 
help detect, prevent and report instances of bribery. If an officer has a concern 
regarding a suspected instance of bribery or corruption, they should report it. 
 
There are multiple channels to help staff raise concerns and should refer to the 
Whistleblowing Policy and determine their favoured course of action. Staff who do 
not have access to the intranet should contact the Internal Audit Manager or their 
Head of Service. Concerns can be anonymous. 
 
In the event that an incident of bribery, corruption, or wrongdoing is reported, the 
Council will act as soon as possible to evaluate the situation. The Council has a 
clearly defined Whistleblowing Policy and Fraud Response Plan which set out 
procedures for investigating fraud, misconduct and noncompliance issues.  This is 
easier and quicker if concerns raised are not anonymous. 
 
Staff who refuse to accept a bribe, or those who raise concerns or report wrongdoing 
can understandably be worried about the repercussions. The Council aims to 
encourage openness and will support anyone who raises a genuine concern in good 
faith under this policy, even if they turn out to be mistaken. 
 
The Council is committed to ensuring nobody suffers detrimental treatment through 
refusing to take part in bribery or corruption, or because of reporting a concern in 
good faith. If you have any questions about these procedures they can be directed to 
the Internal Audit Manager or the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  
 
Bribery Act 2010 
 
Under the Bribery Act 2010 there are four core bribery offences:   

1. offering, promising or giving a bribe 
2. requesting, agreeing to receive or accepting a bribe 
3. bribing a foreign public official; and 
4. a corporate offence of failing to prevent bribery. 

A local authority, such as Harlow District Council, could be liable to prosecution if an 
employee, agent, or subsidiary bribes another person, intending to obtain an 
advantage for the local authority. 
 

110



For individuals, the penalties for committing a crime under the Act are a maximum of 
10 years' imprisonment, along with an unlimited fine, and the potential for the 
confiscation of property under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. 
  

111

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Proceeds_of_Crime_Act_2002


Appendix 2  

HARLOW COUNCIL FRAUD RESPONSE PLAN 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Fraud Response Plan defines the way that Harlow Council applies its 
various policies and procedures to suspected theft, fraud, corruption and 
bribery. 

1.2 It fits in with various other documents, including the anti-fraud strategy and the 
whistleblowing procedure. The procedures for dealing with suspected money 
laundering are different from other problems – see the Anti-Money Laundering 
policy and procedure for the necessary actions. 

1.3 Different rules apply to Benefits Fraud. 
1.4 The aim of this Plan is to provide a toolkit for dealing with problems, and rapid 

access to expert advice. This fraud response plan guides managers on how to 
react to suspicions of fraud, theft, corruption and bribery. 

1.5 Additionally, it gives an outline on how investigations will be progressed, the 
manager’s role and the role of the Investigating Officer. 

 
2. Purpose of the Fraud Response Plan 
 
2.1 The Fraud Response Plan is designed to ensure timely and effective action in 

the event of suspected fraud to: 

• Minimise fraud by taking prompt action 
• Prevent further losses where fraud has occurred 
• Maximise recovery of losses 
• Ensure the accuracy and integrity of evidence for successful disciplinary 

and court action 
• Identify lessons to be learned to improve fraud management 
• Maximise positive publicity when frauds are discovered and dealt with 

effectively 
• Deter others from fraud that they may be contemplating 

 
In addition to obvious frauds involving theft of assets or the misappropriation of 
funds, the following are examples of the types of activity that may be regarded as 
fraud. The list is merely indicative and not exhaustive: 
 

• Manipulation or misreporting of financial information.  
• Misuse of the organisation’s assets, including cash, stock and other assets 
• Deception (e.g. misrepresentation of qualifications to obtain employment) 
• Offering or accepting bribes or inducements from third parties 
• Conspiracy to breach laws or regulations 
• Fraudulent completion of official documents (e.g. VAT receipts) 
• Time recording fraud  

112



• Theft of intellectual property (e.g. unauthorised use of a brand name/logo, 
theft of customer data or product design) 
 

3. The Manager’s role in dealing with suspected fraud 
 
First response 
Where managers suspect a fraud has taken place the first course of action must 
be to contact the Head of Finance (as Section 151 Officer) and Internal Audit 
who will in turn ensure the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Executive are informed. 
 
The only exception to this is where the matter is clearly related to the benefits 
system. In such cases, refer the matter direct to the Department of Works and 
Pensions (DWP), details of which can be found on the Council’s web site.  
 
The Head of Finance will retain overall responsibility and control for any investigation 
but will delegate responsibility for leading the investigation to an Investigating Officer 
ensuring they are independent of the service area under investigation and 
appropriately experienced and trained. Internal Audit will provide advice and 
guidance to the Investigating Officer if they are not appointed as such.  
Investigations of suspected fraud should only be undertaken by officers 
authorised by the Head of Finance.  
 
There may be circumstances where it is appropriate for local managers to undertake 
some preliminary exploration to check on the validity of an allegation or irregularity to 
establish whether there is a case to be investigated. Where this occurs, advice 
should be sought from the Head of Finance or Internal Audit as such activity may 
alert the fraudster, resulting in the destruction of evidence or compromising the 
collection of further evidence. 
 
Human Resources will be consulted should action need to be taken against an 
individual staff member, such as suspension to protect evidence. Therefore, the 
Head of Finance will inform Human Resources at the earliest opportunity, and if 
appropriate agree a way forward.   
 
Where initial investigations point to the likelihood of a criminal act having taken 
place, the Head of Finance or Monitoring Officer will inform the Police. Crime 
numbers should be obtained and provided to Internal Audit/Insurance for reporting 
purposes. 
 
Initial Enquires 
Speed is of the essence, therefore the Investigating Officer should make discreet 
initial enquires to determine if there actually appears to be an irregularity. During this 
initial enquiry the Investigating Officer should: 

• Determine the facts and factors that gave rise to the suspicion 
• Examine the factors to determine whether a genuine mistake has been 

made or whether an irregularity has occurred 
• Document their findings, ensuring access is restricted i.e. not held in an 

‘open area’ of the network 

113



• Secure any relevant documentation/records if this can be done without 
alerting the perpetrator  

The Investigating Officer should not formally interview staff at this stage. 
 
4. Formal Investigation 
 
The Head of Finance will instigate a formal investigation, in consultation with Internal 
Audit and the relevant Head of Service, to be undertaken by the appointed 
Investigating Officer. In the absence of the Head of Finance, their responsibilities are 
transferred to the Monitoring Officer or Chief Executive.  
 
Consideration will be given by the Head of Finance whether to involve other 
agencies such as Police, HM Revenue & Customs, Cabinet Office (the successor 
body for the Audit Commission), the Department for Work and Pensions, the 
National Anti-Fraud Network, the National Crime Agency, External Audit and other 
councils. 
 
The Head of Finance, in consultation with Human Resources, will consider whether it 
is necessary to suspend one or more employees to protect evidence, colleagues or 
assets in line with disciplinary procedures.  
 
5. Conducting the Investigation 
 
The exact format of an investigation is fluid but some general principles will apply to 
all investigations: 

• Investigate and report back to the Head of Finance promptly. If the 
investigation extends more than two or three days then the Head of 
Finance or Internal Audit should be given periodic updates. 

• Comply with legislation on interviewing (Police and Criminal Evidence Act, 
PACE) and surveillance (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, RIPA). 
However, it is not normally necessary, even when there may be a criminal 
offence, to conduct interviews under PACE rules. The police can re-
interview witnesses and suspects later on in the process. 

• Record all evidence received, ensuring that it is sound and adequately 
supported (see further guidance below). 

• Keep written records of all fact-finding meetings. 
• Email correspondence about the investigation should be discreet and use 

an agreed ‘case name’ rather than real names or locations. 
• All sensitive attachments should be password protected (or, preferably, not 

emailed). 
• Hold evidence securely, with appropriate restriction to access (both manual 

and electronic documentation)  
• Maintain confidentiality and discretion throughout, and share information on 

a “need to know” basis. In particular, be mindful that senior officers may 
need to hear disciplinary cases, and therefore should not know details of 
cases. 

114



• Where appropriate, contact other enforcement agencies e.g. Police, HM 
Revenue & Customs. This should be always enacted via Internal Audit as 
they may have established lines of communication and referral protocols. 

• Investigators must not accept any offer of repayment of money or 
resignation at any stage, as this could prejudice the investigation. Any such 
offers should be recorded in the interview notes, and passed on to the 
Head of Finance for consideration (in conjunction with the HR Manager). 

 
The Council has the right to suspend any employee involved pending the outcome of 
an investigation. Suspension does not imply guilt but suspension can prevent the 
removal or destruction of vital evidence. When suspects are not suspended, 
supervision will usually need to be increased. Always seek advice from Human 
Resources on suspensions and any subsequent disciplinary action. 
 
The Internal Audit Manager will report losses to the Council’s Insurance Team at the 
earliest stage. 
 
Some organisations always delay internal disciplinary procedures pending police 
action on criminal offences, and dismiss employees after a court case. Explicitly, 
Harlow Council will pursue disciplinary matters at once, in order to remove 
perpetrators from the payroll as rapidly as is possible using proper process.  
 
6. Actions Following the Completion of an Investigation 
 
Upon completion of an investigation, the Investigating Officer will report findings in 
an appropriate format (usually written) to the Head of Finance. The final report will 
also be issued to the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, and if appropriate 
to the relevant Head of Service, HR Manager and members of the Audit and 
Standards Committee. 
 
In all cases the Council’s insurers should be informed of actual losses as soon as 
these have been firmly established.  
 
The Head of Service must remedy control weaknesses identified during the course 
of the investigation. Internal Audit will provide advice and support on effective 
controls.  
 
Internal Audit will record of all investigations and final outcomes in the theft, fraud, 
corruption and bribery register, including crime numbers. This information informs 
future prevention strategies, and is used in reporting fraud and corruption at the 
Council. 
 
The Communications Team should be informed (it is useful to have a protocol 
regarding publicity of frauds) so that publicity can be properly managed. 
 
Whenever fraud has been proved, the Council will make every effort to recover the 
losses. The method used will vary depending on the type of loss and the regulations 
and powers available. All means of recovery including recovery under social security 
legislation, attachments to earning, civil court proceedings and criminal court 
compensation will be used as appropriate to the offence.  

115



 
 
Simon Freeman 
Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
simon.freeman@harlow.gov.uk 01279 44 6228 

October 2016 

 
Alternative Contacts 

• Internal Audit Manager, Sarah Marsh 01279 44 6884 
sarah.marsh@harlow.gov.uk 

• Monitoring Officer,  Brian Keane 01279 44 6037 brian.keane@harlow.gov.uk 
• Chief Executive, Malcolm  Morley 01279 44 6000 

malcolm.morley@harlow.gov.uk  

 

 

  

116

mailto:simon.freeman@harlow.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.marsh@harlow.gov.uk
mailto:brian.keane@harlow.gov.uk
mailto:malcolm.morley@harlow.gov.uk


 

Outline of Fraud Response Process 
 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Fraud or theft occurs / suspicion aroused 

Inform Head of Finance immediately 
(Simon Freeman Tel. 446228) 

and 
Internal Audit 

(Sarah Marsh Tel. 446884) 
 

who will decide on the next course of 
action 

 
 

Possible Issue 

• Investigating officer 
appointed by Head of 
Finance 

• Formal investigation 
commences 

No issue or referred for 
management investigation 
only 

• Investigation concluded 
• Investigating officer 

reports back to Head of 
Finance 

Human 
Resources 
informed 

117



Appendix 3 
 

Harlow Council Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedure 
 
1. Introduction 
 
The Council is committed to the prevention of money laundering and to working with 
the appropriate authorities to apprehend those who commit offences under the anti-
money laundering regulations.  
These procedures are to be followed by all staff and Members to ensure compliance 
with the Terrorism Act 2000, the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and the Money 
Laundering Regulations 2007. 
Money Laundering is defined under the Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002, and 
involves possession, or in any way dealing with, or concealing the proceeds of any 
crime. It also involves similar activities defined by the Terrorism Act 2000, relating to 
the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purposes of terrorism, or 
resulting from acts of terrorism. 
Any person involved in a known, or suspected, money-laundering activity in the UK 
risks a criminal conviction carrying a jail term of up to fourteen years. The offences 
apply to everyone, in both personal and professional capacities. Such acts are not 
offences if the person makes an ‘authorised disclosure’ to a police constable, 
customs officer or an officer nominated as the Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) by their employer. 
This policy sets out the procedure to minimise the risk that Harlow Council services 
will be used in money laundering, and to protect employees from the risk of 
prosecution if they become aware of money laundering activity in their work. 
 
2. Policy 
 
The Council’s policy is that all members and employees will comply with the legal 
requirements, and with their spirit. Failure to do so will put the individual at risk of 
disciplinary action. 
The Council will apply the provisions of the legislation in a proportionate way, 
matching its actions and requirements to the seriousness of potential offences. This 
will be done in a way that is entirely consistent with the Council’s general policy on 
theft, fraud, corruption and bribery, which is that it will not tolerate these behaviours. 
It is also consistent with related policies and procedures, such as the whistleblowing 
procedure and the fraud response plan. 
 
This Policy applies to all members and employees of the Council to: 

• prevent the organisation and its staff being exposed to money laundering; 
• identify areas where it may occur; and  
• comply with all legal and regulatory requirements. 

 
This policy and procedure document gives an overview including what to do about 
suspicions of money laundering. 
 

118



3. What is money laundering? 
 
There are three principal offences – concealing, arranging and 
acquisition/use/possession. 
 
Concealing is where someone knows or suspects a case of money laundering, but 
conceals or disguises its existence (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002). 
Arranging is where someone involves himself or herself in an arrangement to assist 
in money laundering (section 328).  
Acquisition, Use and Possession is where someone seeks to benefit from money 
laundering by acquiring, using or possessing the property concerned (section 329). 
 
There are also three ‘third party’ offences under POCA – tipping off, failure to 
disclose and prejudicing an investigation.  
 
Tipping off is where someone informs a person or people who are, or are suspected 
of being, involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of 
their being investigated, or prejudicing an investigation.  Failure to disclose is self-
explanatory – not reporting suspicious activity. These are described in more detail in 
Sections 8 and 9.  
 
It is unlikely that a member of staff would commit any of the three principal offences, 
but failure to disclose a suspicion and ‘tipping off’ are serious offences in 
themselves, and there are only very limited grounds in law for not reporting a 
suspicion. 
 
The primary money laundering offences are punishable by up to 14 years 
imprisonment with up to five years for third party offences.  
 
Although ‘money laundering’ generally means the activities of organised crime 
(for which the legislation and regulations were first introduced), it technically covers 
any suspicion that someone is benefiting financially from dishonest activities. 
 
‘Criminal property’ is defined very widely. It includes not only the proceeds of crime 
committed by somebody else, but also possession of the proceeds of an individual’s 
own crime – for example, retaining money from non-payment of income tax. It does 
not matter how small the amount of money involved. It also includes the proceeds of 
crimes that take place abroad. However, the main concern is with organised criminal 
activity. 
 
4. Legal framework 
 
There is no statutory requirement on the Council to adopt a Money Laundering 
Policy or appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer but Harlow Council follows 
good practice by having these in place. The requirement (on the organisation and on 
individuals) is to disclose suspicions that may arise during the course of normal 
business. 

119



5. The Council’s obligations 
 
Harlow Council will ensure that staff who are most likely to be exposed to, or 
suspicious of, money laundering have guidance on the law and, where necessary, 
suitable training. 
 
The Council has procedures for reporting suspicious transactions and if necessary, 
making an appropriate report to the National Crime Agency (NCA). 
 
The Council has made arrangements to deter and prevent money laundering. There 
are formal procedures for evidencing the identity of parties with whom the Council 
interacts ‘by way of business’ for services that could be deemed to be ‘relevant’. See 
Sections 10 and 11 below. 
 
Employees do not need detailed knowledge of the criminal offences. However, the 
employees most likely to encounter money laundering must be aware of the 
procedures, and of their personal responsibilities. 
 
ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING PROCEDURE 
 
6. Examples of how the Council may become involved in money laundering 
 
This procedure provides sufficient detail for most staff, and gives guidance to those 
most likely to encounter attempts at money laundering information on what they must 
do. The following list gives examples of how the Council may become involved in 
money laundering although it is not exhaustive: 

• Accepting large cash amounts – this Council has set a limit of £10,000. This 
can be a single transaction, or a group of related transitions. However, it is 
important to be vigilant when receiving any cash payments over £1,000. 

• The request of a large refund. 
• Property investments or purchases. 

 
Indicators which may suggest Money Laundering activities include: 

• Payments to the Council of large amounts, although report any suspicious 
cash transactions to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO). 

• Cash overpayments made by a customer resulting in a large refund request 
being made. 

• Cash transactions made that are significantly outside of normal expectations. 
• Involvement of third parties when dealing with the Council and cash 

payments, without logical reason. 
• Customers/contractors or suppliers who are unwilling to provide, without 

reasonable excuse, proof of identity, or information on the sources of the 
funds. 

 
7. Disclosure procedure 
 
Harlow Council has nominated the following officers to manage anti-money 
laundering measures within the organisation: 
 

120



Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) 

Head of Finance: 01279-446228  

Deputy MLRO Head of Governance: 01279-446037  
 
You should report all known or suspected money laundering activities, or concern 
that your involvement in a matter may amount to a prohibited act, to the MLRO as 
soon as possible. Failure to do so could lead to prosecution. This can be done either 
verbally or completing the ‘Report to Money Laundering Reporting Officer’ form 
available on the Infonet 
 
Once you have reported a matter to the MLRO, you must not make any further 
enquiries without instruction from the MLRO. You must co-operate with the MLRO 
and other authorities during any subsequent investigation. 
 
Where the MLRO concludes a disclosure is necessary, he will do this in the 
prescribed manner, as soon as possible, by submitting a Suspicious Activity Report 
(SAR) via the SAR online system.  
 
Where consent is required from NCA for a transaction to proceed, then the 
transaction in question must not go ahead until NCA has given consent, or there is 
deemed consent because NCA has not given instructions inside the legal timescale. 
 
Where the MLRO concludes that there are no reasonable grounds to suspect money 
laundering they must record this on the report, and give consent in writing for 
transactions to proceed. 
 
The MLRO commits a criminal offence if he knows or suspects money laundering is 
taking place and does not subsequently report it to NCA. They must act on all 
reports from members and employees, and positively decide whether or not to 
report. All records must be kept for five years. 
 
8. “Tipping off” and “Failure to Disclose” Offences 
 
It is an offence to indicate to the subject of a money laundering report that a report 
has been made. If, knowing a disclosure has been made, you say or do anything 
which is likely to prejudice any investigation that might be conducted, you are guilty 
of tipping-off. 
 
Therefore, where you suspect money laundering and report it to the MLRO, be very 
careful what you say to others afterwards. For example, a lawyer who reports his 
suspicions of a money laundering offence may commit a tipping off offence if he then 
tells the client. However, preliminary enquiries of a client to obtain more information 
(e.g. confirm their identity, clarify the source of funds) will not amount to tipping off, 
unless you know or suspect that a report has been made. 
 
Even if you have not reported the matter to the MLRO, but you know or suspect that 
someone else has made such a disclosure and you mention it to someone else, this 
could amount to a tipping off offence. 
 

121



You must not, therefore, make any reference on a file to a report having been made 
to the MLRO because, should the client/customer exercise their right to see the file 
under the Data Protection or Freedom Of Information Acts, such a note will obviously 
“tip them off” and may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will keep the 
appropriate records in a confidential manner. 
 
Likewise it is an offence if someone fails to disclose i.e. they have knowledge or 
suspicion either as an employee or by the MLRO. 
 
9. “Prejudicing an investigation” offence 
 
If you know or suspect that an appropriate officer is, or is about to be, conducting a 
money laundering investigation and you make a disclosure to a third party that is 
likely to prejudice the investigation, you are committing an offence.  Falsifying, 
destroying, disposing of, concealing any document which is relevant to the 
investigation or allowing this to happen is also an offence.   
 
Any person found guilty of tipping off, failing to disclose or prejudicing an 
investigation is liable to imprisonment (maximum 5 years), an unlimited fine, or both. 
 
However, defences are available for such offences, for example: 

• Where you did not know or suspect that the disclosure was likely to be 
prejudicial; or 

• Where you are a professional legal adviser and the disclosure was: 
o to a client (or his representative) in connection with the giving of legal 

advice; 
o to any person in connection with legal proceedings (existing or 

contemplated); 
 
but not where the information was given with the intention of furthering a criminal 
purpose. 
 
10. Specific requirements for “relevant business” 
 
The following activities could be deemed to be ‘relevant’: 

• Provision ‘by way of business’ of legal services which involves participation in 
a financial or real property transaction 

• Provision ‘by way of business’ of services which involve the formation, 
operation or management of a company or trust 

• Dealing in goods of any description ‘by way of business’ whenever a 
transaction involves accepting a total cash payment of £10,000 or more. 

• Dealing in and managing investments ‘by way of business’. 
 
11. Client identification procedure 
 
Where the Council is carrying out business that could be deemed to be ‘relevant’ 
and: 

122



• forms an ongoing business relationship with a client; or 

• undertakes a one-off transaction involving payment by or to the client of 
£10,000 or more; or 

• undertakes a series of linked one-off transactions involving total payment by 
or to the client(s) of £10,000 or more; or 

• it is known or suspected that a one-off transaction (or a series of them) 
involves money laundering; 

 
then you must follow the Client Identification Procedure below before undertaking 
any business. 
 
Satisfactory evidence of identity establishes that the client is who they claim to be. 
This applies to existing clients if evidence is not already on file, as well as new ones. 
In all cases, you must retain the evidence for at least five years from the end of the 
business relationship or transaction(s). 
 
Where satisfactory evidence of identity is not available the business arrangement or 
one off transaction should not proceed.  
 
Where the client is acting or appears to be acting for someone else, you must also 
take reasonable steps to establish the identity of that other person. 
 
The law states that particular care must be taken when the client is not physically 
present when being identified. 
 
Client Identification Procedure: For all clients there must be a signed, written 
instructions on their organisation’s headed paper at the outset of the business 
relationship. Additional evidence should also be in place, for example: 
 

• check the organisation’s website to confirm the identity of personnel, its 
business address and any other details; 

• meet the client at their business address; 

• confirm that the organisation is included in the telephone directory; 

• ask the key contact officer to provide evidence of personal identity and 
position within the organisation, for example: 

o passport, photo ID card, driving licence; 
o signed, written confirmation from an appropriate senior person in their 

organisation confirming that they work for the organisation and are 
empowered to conduct this type of transaction. 

 
 
12. Record keeping 
 
Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records of: 

• client identification evidence obtained; and 

123



• details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients  
for at least five years. This is so that they may be used as evidence in any 
subsequent investigation into money laundering by the relevant authorities. 
 
The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law, however, they must 
provide a sound management trail during any subsequent investigation. (For 
example, distinguishing the client and the relevant transaction and recording in what 
form any funds were received or paid.) In practice, Council sections will routinely 
keep records of work carried out for clients in the course of normal business and 
these will usually be sufficient. 
 
13. Conclusion 
 
It is relatively unlikely that Harlow Council will encounter money laundering. 
However, we need to be aware of the issues, and ready to deal with any suspicious 
circumstances promptly and properly. 
 
Simon Freeman 
Section 151 Officer 
 

 
 
 

 

124



REPORT TO: AUDIT & STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: 23 NOVEMBER 2016 
 

TITLE: RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT  
 

LEAD OFFICER(S): 
 

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE 
(01279) 446228 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A the Committee reviews the Corporate Risk Register and specifically CR04 as 

set out in the report. 
 
BACKGROUND 

1.  The Audit and Standards Committee’s terms of reference includes the 
responsibility to monitor the effective development and operation of risk 
management in the Council.  

2.  The Council’s Risk Management Strategy, previously agreed by the 
Committee, states that the responsibility of the Audit and Standards 
Committee is to “understand, scrutinise, and endorse the Council’s risk 
management strategy and monitor the Council’s risk appetite.” 

  
 Corporate Risk Register. 

 
3.  To help facilitate the scrutiny understanding of the Councils key risks at any 

given point in time, the Corporate Risk Register is reported to each Audit and 
Standards Committee meeting for scrutiny and challenge. 
 

4.  The Corporate Risk Register continues to be reviewed on at least a quarterly 
basis by CMT/HoS, who also continue to monitor any cross cutting or 
strategic risks contained in service plans. 
 

5.  The Corporate Risk Register format is being built into the new service 
planning and risk management system (InPhase).  This database will also 
hold the Corporate Risk Register and ensure linkages with operational risks, 
corporate objectives and performance management information.  The 
technical build is now largely complete with user testing being undertaken 
before being rolled out across the Council. 
 

 Summary of Key Risks 
 

6.  The Corporate Risk Register relates to key and cross-cutting corporate 
issues and strategic risks contained in Service Plans.  Corporate or Service 

125

Agenda Item 13



level risks scoring 18 or higher are reported to CMT/HoS and are identified in 
the Corporate Risk Register attached at Appendix A. 
 

7.  Risks scoring 20 or higher will be reported to Cabinet at its meeting on  
8 December as part of the regular Joint Finance and Performance Report 
(JFPR). 
 

ISSUES/PROPOSALS 
 
8.  It has been agreed for the Audit and Standards Committee to focus on one or 

two key risks at each of their meetings, which is in line with good practice 
ensuring all risks are covered within an acceptable cycle of meetings. 
 

9.  To date the Committee has reviewed:  
 

• CR01 (sustainable budget) and CR03 (housing mix) at its November 
2015 meeting. 

• CR06 (clean and green environment) at its March 2016 meeting. 
• CR02 (the Harlow Offer) at its September 2016 meeting. 

 
10.  It is proposed the Committee examines CR04 “Lack of adequate Council 

housing”.   The narrative from the risk register for CR04 is presented in 
Appendix B in an easier to read format. 
 

11.  The Corporate Risk Register continues to be scrutinised on a regular basis 
by CMT/HoS and provides a mechanism for Committee challenge by 
presenting an update at each meeting. 
 

 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Place (includes Sustainability) 
None specific. 
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place 
 
Finance (Includes ICT) 
Any specific implications are set out in the report. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance  
 
 
Housing 
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 

126



Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
None specific. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (includes HR) 
Risk Management is an important part of the council’s overall governance 
arrangements and this is why the Audit and Standards Committee needs to 
consider the adequacy of overall arrangements on a regular basis. 
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Corporate and service risk registers 

Risk Management Strategy and Toolkit 
 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
CMT – Corporate Management Team. 

HoS – Heads of Service. 

 
 

127



Corporate Risk Register APPENDIX A

CR01 - Financial resilience
IF : If a sustainable budget is not secured
THEN : Then the Council will lack financial resilience
BACKGROUND : The Government's fiscal policy in respect of deficit reduction reducing public sector funding combined with the Council's limited ability to raise income could result in the 

Council's financial resilience being at risk. 

... Freeman, 
Simon Likely (4) Major (4)

Development of the 
Council's MTFS and he 
detailed planning of future 
budgets s now 
undertaken early in the 
financial year and is an 
ongoing process rather 
than an annual review 
and is linked with the 
monthly Budget 
Monitoring process. 
However, for the period of 
the MTFS there are 
substantial budget 
reductions required to 
meet the Government's 
funding cuts which may 
impact on deliverablility of 
a sustainable budget in 
the medium term.

Likely (4) Major (4) 21 Likely (4) Moderate
(3) 17

Whilst the pressures 
generated in the Council's 
grant income are largely 
driven by Government 
policy the financial 
situation continues to be 
monitored at a high 
frequency. The 
Administration will 
continue to be provided 
with detailed financial 
information and will be 
appropriately supported in 
reaching decisions upon 
how these financial 
challenges can be faced.

30/09/2016

CR02 - The Harlow Offer
IF : If the Harlow Offer is poor
THEN : Then the town will fail to attract new or retain current businesses
BACKGROUND : A lack of private sector investment and/or disinvestment by retailers and landowners in the Town Centre could lead to a further decline in its attractiveness as a shopping and

leisure destination. The Harlow Offer is key to retaining and attracting new investment in to the town 

... Greer, 
Jane Likely (4) Major (4)

Infrastructure plan (incl 
M11/J7A). Town centre 
improvements. Housing 
mix. Enterprise Zone 
delivery lead. Economic 
Development Strategy 
(currently being drafted) 

Moderate 
(3) Major (4) 18 Moderate

(3)
Moderate

(3) 13

Continued work with ECC 
to deliver road and 
transport infrastructure 
improvements. Develop 
forward plan for improving 
transport infrastructure in 
Harlow. Take forward EZ 
skills plan to support 
development of a skilled 

30/09/2016

Risk Owner Inherent 
Likelihood

Inherent 
Impact Controls Already in Place Residual 

Likelihood
Residual 
Impact

Residual 
Risk Score

Residual 
Risk 
Indicator

D... Foreseeable 
Likelihood

Foreseeable 
Impact

Foreseeable 
Risk Score

Additional actions to 
mitigate risk

Last 
Reviewed

128



workforce, Templefields 
public realm improvement 
initiatives 

CR03 - Lack of Suitable Housing Mix
IF : If the town lacks a suitable housing mix 
THEN : Then it will not attract or retain residents
BACKGROUND : The town requires a suitable housing mix to attract new and retain existing residents for an evolving and sustainable community. Supply must be balanced with demand and 

housing need, taking into account National Housing and Planning policies. As part of that mix, housing for local people that is genuinely affordable remains a high priority for the Council. 

... Bloomer, 
Graeme Likely (4) Major (4)

Duty to cooperate 
discussions. Housing 
studies including joint 
ones to support the Local 
Plan. 

Likely (4) Major (4) 21 Moderate
(3) Major (4) 18 Implement Local 

Development Plan 30/09/2016

CR04 - Lack of adequate Council housing
IF : If the Council does not provide adequate Council Housing it will not be able to fulfil housing needs.
THEN : If the Council does not provide adequate Council Housing it will not be able to fulfil housing needs.
BACKGROUND : Investment in the existing Council Housing stock is required to fulfil housing needs, maintain Decent Homes standards and improve housing conditions and Housing Options for 

tenants. 

... Murray, 
Andrew

Moderate 
(3)

Moderate 
(3)

Pathfinder Project, Priority
Estates schemes (which 
includes provision for re-
housing within Housing 
Association properties). 
Modern Homes (Housing 
Investment) programme, 
Asset Management 
Strategy, Tenancy 
Strategy, Allocations 
Policy, Homelessness 
Strategy, Tenant and 
Leaseholder Engagement 
Strategy 

Likely (4) Moderate 
(3) 17 Moderate

(3)
Moderate

(3) 13

Consult on preferred 
options for housing 
growth in LDP, actions 
from Tenant Satisfaction 
Surveys and Landlord 
Survey, re-let repairs and 
maintenance contract 
(2017). Continuation of 
planning and modelling of 
HRA business plan. 

30/09/2016

CR05 - Inability to fulfill Community Leadership role
IF : If the Council is unable to fulfil its community leadership role
THEN : Then partnering and strategic opportunities may be lost, impacting on strategic plans and the future of discretionary services 
BACKGROUND : Discretionary services are dependent upon the Council's community leadership role which relies to some extent on co-production and co-operation of other agencies and 

organisations 

... Greer, 
Jane

Moderate 
(3) Major (4)

Harlow Wellbeing 
Strategy, Safer Harlow 
Partnership

Moderate 
(3) Major (4) 18 Moderate

(3)
Moderate

(3) 13

Crime and anti=social 
behaviour partnerships. 
Communications Plan 
(e.g. to tackle 
perceptions). Review of 
financial sustainability and
delivery models of 
discretionary services. 

30/09/2016

Risk Owner Inherent 
Likelihood

Inherent 
Impact Controls Already in Place Residual 

Likelihood
Residual 
Impact

Residual 
Risk Score

Residual 
Risk 
Indicator

D... Foreseeable 
Likelihood

Foreseeable 
Impact

Foreseeable 
Risk Score

Additional actions to 
mitigate risk

Last 
Reviewed

129



CR06 - Lack of Resources and Capacity, Council and key partners
IF : If the resources and capacity of the Council and key partners are diminished
THEN : Then the Council may not be able to fulfil its community aspirations
BACKGROUND : Tension between expectations of residents, priorities and resources available for street cleaning, waste & recycling, unadopted highways maintenance & landscaping requires 

careful prioritisation and management of expectations 

... Bloomer, 
Graeme

Moderate 
(3) Major (4)

Essex Waste 
Management Plan, Veolia 
contract, Street Scene 
contract, Landscapes 
contract, Town Park 
regeneration project, 
NEPP, 

Moderate 
(3) Major (4) 18 Likely (4) Major (4) 21

Implement Community 
Engagement Strategy, 
actions from resident 
satisfaction surveys and 
budget survey, increase 
transparency, 
Communications 
Strategy, re-let 
streetscene and 
landscapes contracts 
(2017), consider Veolia 
contract long term 
options. Continue review 
of scope and spec of 
services.

30/09/2016

CR07 - Ability to support childrenand family aspirations
IF : If we are unable to support children and young people's (and their families) aspirations
THEN : Then this will adversely impact the skills and educational attainment of school leavers
BACKGROUND : Engagement of young people (and their families) and opportunities for all in education employment and the community will provide opportunities to raise aspirations and the

current low skill base 

... Greer, 
Jane

Moderate 
(3)

Moderate 
(3)

Strategic Partnership 
chaired by Chief Exec, 
Signposting for residents 
(often through ECC), 
Partner agencies 
(statutory, voluntary, 
schools), promotion of 
and support to UTC and 
ARU , Youth Council, 
Harlow School Readiness 
project initiation 

Unlikely (2) Moderate 
(3) 9 Unlikely (2) Moderate

(3) 9

Support creation and 
development of 
apprenticeships for young 
people in Local Plan and 
Procurement Policy, 
Engage with a range of 
partners to support 
families with complex 
needs, Extend Harlow 
School Readiness project 
across town, Dedicated 
post (add title) with 3 year 
funding. 

30/09/2016

Risk Owner Inherent 
Likelihood

Inherent 
Impact Controls Already in Place Residual 

Likelihood
Residual 
Impact

Residual 
Risk Score

Residual 
Risk 
Indicator

D... Foreseeable 
Likelihood

Foreseeable 
Impact

Foreseeable 
Risk Score

Additional actions to 
mitigate risk

Last 
Reviewed

130



CR04 - Lack of adequate Council housing
Risk Owner: Murray, Andrew
Position: Head of Housing

30/09/2016 CP1. More and better housing Annually 31/03/2017

Last 
Reviewed

This risk impacts upon Major Review 
Frequency

Next Major 
Review Date

If the Council does not provide 
adequate Council Housing it will 
not be able to fulfil housing needs. 

If the Council does not provide 
adequate Council Housing it will 
not be able to fulfil housing needs. 

Investment in the existing Council Housing stock is required to fulfil housing needs, 
maintain Decent Homes standards and improve housing conditions and Housing 
Options for tenants. 

If Then Background

Moderate (3) Lack of investment in Council Housing stock. Changes in 
government policy in relation to housing finance affects 
ability of the Council to maintain Decent Homes 
Standards. 

Inherent 
Likelihood

Likelihood Comment

Moderate (3) Lack of suitable mix and quality of Council Housing stock. 
Increasing numbers on Housing Needs Register. impact 
on homelessness. 

Inherent 
Impact

Impact Comment

Pathfinder Project, Priority Estates schemes (which includes provision for re-housing within Housing Association properties). Modern Homes (Housing 
Investment) programme, Asset Management Strategy, Tenancy Strategy, Allocations Policy, Homelessness Strategy, Tenant and Leaseholder 
Engagement Strategy 

Current Controls

Risk Rating 17 13

Risk Likelihood Likely (4) Moderate (3)

Risk Impact Moderate (3) Moderate (3)

Residual Risk DoT Foreseeable Risk
Consult on preferred options for housing growth in LDP, actions from 
Tenant Satisfaction Surveys and Landlord Survey, re-let repairs and 
maintenance contract (2017). Continuation of planning and modelling of 
HRA business plan. 

Additional actions to mitigate risk (4Ts)

131


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	22 Audit Results Report (ISA 260)

	7 Committee Work Plan
	8 Annual Audit Letter 2015/16
	LEAD OFFICER:   SIMON FREEMAN – HEAD OF FINANCE
	(01279) 446228
	Harlow DC Annual Audit Letter 2015-16

	9 Auditors Appointment
	PSAA Prospectus August 2016
	Appointing Person FAQs October 2016

	10 Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee and its Terms of Reference
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	11 Internal Audit Activity Report
	Appendix A
	16 17 P8

	Appendix B - Recommendation Tracker

	12 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy
	Appendix A - The Strategy

	13 Risk Management Report
	Appendix A Corporate Risks Summary
	Appendix B Corporate Risk CR04


